

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Early Childhood Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning **Communities**

Andress Devon Carter-Sims Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Pre-Elementary, Early Childhood, Kindergarten Teacher Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Andress Carter-Sims

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Donald Yarosz, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Karyn Hawkins-Scott, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Anita Dutrow, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Early Childhood Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning Communities

by

Andress Carter-Sims

MA, University of South Carolina, 2005

BS, University of South Carolina, 1992

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

Teachers are struggling to transfer newly acquired knowledge and skills from professional learning experiences into their classrooms. This study aimed to explore teachers' perceptions of how professional learning communities (PLCs) enhance elementary teachers' instructional practices based on interviews with teachers in a rural school district. Olivier and Huffman's theory of utilizing PLC to their fullest potential was used as a conceptual framework for the study. This framework highlighted five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning to increase teaching and learning in schools. This was a qualitative study with semi-structured interviews of 10 certified elementary teachers who engaged in PLC. Interview transcripts were examined using open-coding techniques with thematic analysis. Participants reported nurturing teacher leadership, support for teaching and learning, collaborative learning, sharing instructional practices, and supportive conditions were significant contributing factors for PLCs' success in enhancing teacher instructional practices. All of the study participants agreed that PLCs impacted teachers learning instructional strategies at the elementary school level, especially for pre-kindergarten through second grade teachers. It is recommended that districts and schools provide training regarding collective learning and application, sharing instructional practices, working collaboratively to plan, solving problems of practice, and learning opportunities in their classroom through collaboration with colleagues. Further recommendations include using a mixed-methods research design to understand PLCs better. This study contributes to positive social change by informing educators, practitioners, and researchers about the need for teacher collaboration to improve instructional strategies, thereby improving students' academic achievement.

Early Childhood Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning Communities

by

Andress Carter-Sims

MA, University of South Carolina, 2005 BS, University of South Carolina, 1992

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

The researcher dedicates this dissertation to my mother, Dorothy R. Carter, who transitioned to heaven while working on this research study. She supported me and helped me keep my goals alive and real. I also dedicate this work to my husband, Wayne Sims, daughter, Alicia Sims, and my father Woodrow Carter. Your encouragement, faith, and patience have been an inspiration while I cried and fell into numerous depression stages throughout this process. I love each of you very much and thank God for your understanding and love while I faced this enormous journey.

Acknowledgements

I want to thank my chair, Dr. Donald Yarosz, whose feedback, guidance, and support regarding this research study was very beneficial. Dr. Yarosz, kept me from quitting after my mother went to heaven. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members whose feedback and advice was also invaluable throughout the process. I am grateful that you understood my emotional ups and downs throughout this process.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Ch	apter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	3
	Purpose of the Study	5
	Research Question(s) (Qualitative)	6
	Conceptual Framework (Qualitative)	6
	Nature of the Study	7
	Definitions	8
	Assumptions	9
	Scope and Delimitations	9
	Limitations	10
	Significance	11
	Summary	12
Cł	apter 2: Literature Review	14
	Literature Search Strategy	15
	Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation	16
	Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable	16
	Professional Learning Communities	17
	Shared and Supportive Leadership	21
	Shared Vision and Value	24
	Collective Learning and Application	28

	Shared Personal Practice	31	
	Supportive Condition	33	
	Summary and Conclusions	35	
Ch	apter 3: Research Method	37	
	Setting (Quantitative and Mixed Methods)	37	
	Research Design and Rationale	38	
	Role of the Researcher (Qualitative)	41	
	Participant Selection (Qualitative)	43	
	Instrumentation (Qualitative)	45	
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection (for		
	students collecting their own data)	47	
	Data Analysis Plan	50	
	Trustworthiness (Qualitative and Mixed Methods)	51	
	Ethical Procedures	54	
	Summary	56	
Chapter 4: Results			
	Setting	58	
	Data Collection	61	
	Data Analysis	63	
	Evidence of Trustworthiness	86	
	Transferability	87	
	Dependability	87	
	Summary	88	

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	90
Interperation of the Findings	91
Interperataion of RQ1	94
Limitation of the Study	98
Recommendations	100
Implications	104
Conclusion	104
References	108
Appendix A: Interview Questions	123
Appendix B: Five Dimensions of Conceptual Framework and Interview Questions	s124
Appendix C: Letter of Cooperation	125
Appendix D: Participation Invitation Letter	126

List of Tables

Table 1: Research Participant Demographics	60
Table 2: Selected Professional Characteristics About the Interviewees	61
Table 3: Summary of Themes Related to Interview Question	86
Table 4: Theme1 Related to RQ1	95
Table 5: Theme2 Related to RQ1	97

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

According to research from researchers at the National Center for Educational Statistics (2019), professional learning communities (PLC) are an effective evidence-based strategy for enabling teachers to update their knowledge, sharpen their skills, and acquire new teaching techniques intent of changing teacher practices. According to researchers at the Institute of Education Sciences (2016), collaborative PLC teams have exposed teachers to new id-eas and practices. They can improve their pedagogy through a process of critical reflection with their colleagues. The National Center for Educational Statistics (2017) reported that 81% of teachers participated in regularly scheduled collaboration with other teachers, 67% of teachers observed or were observed by their colleagues for at least 10 minutes, and 45% conducted individual or collaborative research on a topic of professional interest to improve teacher effectiveness. As a result of the number of teachers engaged in collaborative professional learning experiences and the time dedicated to PLC, school leaders must ensure PLC was carefully planned and organized in a way that enhances teacher pedagogy and classroom instructional practices.

Teacher collaboration and PLC can enhance professional learning opportunities and correspondingly foster meaningful changes in teaching instructional practices (Bellibas, Bulut, & Gedik, 2017; Oliver & Huffman, 2016; Steyn, 2016). Several researchers have indicated that PLC stimulates teachers' learning and outcomes and supports schools' continuous improvement process (Binkhorst, Poortman, & van Joolingen, 2017; Pang & Wang, 2016; Song & Choi, 2017; Vanblaere & Devos, 2016).

Chapter 1 included background literature on the research topic and the research problem and its purpose and followed by the research question. This conceptual framework grounds the research, explains the research, and offers definitions for critical terms in the research study. Finally, the researcher offered assumptions, scope, delimitations, limitations, the study's significance, and summarize the information included in Chapter 1.

Background

For teachers to improve their instructional practices, collaboration with their colleagues for increased professional learning and enhanced professional practice is critical (Oliver & Huffman, 2016). Researchers have suggested that in order to engage in sustainable school improvement, teachers must be engaged in collaborative PLC, which allow them to play an active part in their knowledge construction (Dehdary, 2017; Van Lare & Brazer, 2013; Wilson, 2016). Therefore, transforming teachers into thinkers and inquirers who play an active part in knowledge construction can guarantee improved teacher practices (Dehdary, 2017). In order to engage in collaborative practices that change teachers' instructional delivery, enhances their professional growth, and improves teacher quality, additional research is required to maintain effective PLC (Louws, Meirink, van Veen, van Driel, 2017; Oliver & Huffman, 2016). While there is a large body of research on the purpose and benefits of PLC, there are not many studies on early childhood teachers' perceptions of PLC. Additional studies on the perceptions classroom teachers have about PLC are needed because teachers are influential in reforming schools because they provide direct instruction to students in their classrooms daily (Dehdary, 2017; Wilson, 2016).

Years of research have asserted that teachers are the most influential determinates for instruction quality in a classroom learning environment (Damjanovic & Blank, 2018). Therefore, teachers must be provided with time to participate in collaborative efforts with their colleagues to construct meaningful knowledge and engage in inquiry to transform their teaching and learning (Popp, & Goldman, 2016). Unfortunately, many teachers receive professional learning that does not promote active engagement or improve their instructional practice (Capraro et al., 2016; Louws, Meirink, van Veen, van Driel, 2017). For this reason, professional learning opportunities for teachers should involve opportunities for collaborative participation of teachers based on their needs for planning and implementing instructional changes in their classroom.

According to Capraro et al. (2016), teachers were often expected to collaborate with other teachers rather than work in insolation because PLC is one of the most effective strategies for increasing teacher learning collaboratively. PLC must ensure positive outcomes for teachers. PLC is not guaranteeing teacher learning and enhanced instructional practices. PLC must be implemented to create and sustain learning and change in practice for teachers.

Problem Statement

South Carolina requires professional learning and growth in order for teachers to maintain a teaching certificate. This requirement is designed to promote high-quality teaching and learning. Through empirical research, collaborative professional learning structures have been suggested to support early childhood professionals' high-quality teaching and learning experiences (Bahous, Busher, & Nabhani, 2016; Song & Choi,

2017). According to Guerra and Figueroa (2018), teachers' professional learning should be an essential component of their professional growth to ensure high-quality early childhood education. Bahous et al. (2016) added that teachers need opportunities to build their capacity to learn various skills and knowledge collaboratively to help them teach and support learning successfully.

Gilbert, Voelkel, and Johnson (2018) suggested that PLC are often not used to their fullest potential in school. Hurley, Seifert, and Sheppard (2018) asserted that PLC is not used to their fullest potential when school leaders do not engage in distributive leadership practices with teachers for individual teacher growth and continuous school improvement. Additionally, research has documented a well-known problem with PLC. The problem with PLC is that teachers often struggle to transfer newly acquired collaborative teacher learning experiences into their classroom learning environment (Sjoer & Meirink, 2016). Song and Choi (2017) suggested that PLC are designed for various forms of collaboration in the current field of education to bring about significant teaching activities and student learning changes.

Similarly, Mu, Liang, Lu, and Huang (2018) indicated that enhanced teaching is likely to occur when teachers have a collaborative PLC that facilitates teaching practices through an engaging professional learning process. Although a substantial body of current research offers insight into PLC (Pop and Goldman, 2016; Voelkel and Chrispeels, 2017; Woodland, 2016), further research is needed to understand better teacher's perceptions of PLC to support teachers' individual and collaborative learning to enhance teacher instructional practices (Bellibas, Bulut, & Gedik, 2017; Burns et al., 2018; Owen, 2016). Due to the lack of research on teachers' perceptions, many schools

may not have implemented PLC that cultivate learning through collaboration or support continuous school improvement (Gilbert et al. 2018; Hurley et al. 2018; Sjoer & Meirink, 2016). Therefore, the problem to be addressed by this research is that it is unknown to what extent PLC conducted with prekindergarten through third-grade teachers improves instructional practices.

According to the teacher surveys collected by the school's department of education, only 52.9% of the teachers were satisfied with their learning environment, and only 58.8% of teachers were satisfied with their social and physical environment during the 2018-2019 school year (South Carolina State Department of Education, 2020).

Additionally, only 59.9% percent of students reported they are cognitively engaged in their learning environment per the opinion surveys provided during the same instructional year (South Carolina State Department of Education, 2020). Finally, the South Carolina State Department of Education, 2020) reported that the school's achievement score was unsatisfactory, and the report card rating was below average for the same school year. Therefore, this data provides evidence and supports the reason for this study. PLC has become embedded within the identified school; having a better understanding of teachers can effectively collaborate through professional learning communities that may enhance instructional practices.

Purpose of the Study

At the site where this study took place, all teachers K-3rd grade participate in early childhood PLC. The purpose of this qualitative research study was to better understand prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' perceptions of how early Childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices.

The participants in this study were prekindergarten through third-grade teachers who engage in PLC to enhance teaching and learning in a public elementary school in South Carolina. The qualitative data analysis was used to understand teachers' perceptions of PLC and their alignment to the PLC conceptual framework.

Research Question(s) (Qualitative)

1. What are early childhood teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices?

Conceptual Framework (Qualitative)

This study's conceptual framework was Olivier and Huffman's (2016) theory for utilizing PLC to their fullest potential. This theory highlights five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning to increase teaching and learning for teachers and their students (Olivier and Huffman, 2016). According to Olivier and Huffman (2016), the five essential dimensions were shared and supportive leadership, values, vision, collective learning, application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions. These five dimensions that emphasize the need for continuous improvement helped inform the research question's development, interview questions, data analysis themes, and themes that may emerge throughout the research process. These dimensions were also be reflected in the research question. The questions were a part of the data analysis themes expected and new themes that may emerge. These dimensions were essential for interpreting the results and findings and can help to inform recommendations.

Nature of the Study

This qualitative research study employed a semi-structured interview approach (Rubin and Rubin, 2012) to investigate 10-12 prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' perceptions of PLC. Teachers' perceptions of the five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning were studied through individual in-depth qualitative interviews. Rubin and Rubin (2012) noted that in-depth qualitative interviewing allows a researcher to gather rich and detailed information through open-ended questions that may be adjusted depending upon the interviewee's responses to questions. Data were gathered through face-to-face interviews with teachers prekindergarten through third grade who was purposefully selected and invited to interview. An interview protocol was used, and open-ended questions were developed based on Oliver and Huffman's (2016) theory for utilizing PLC to their fullest potential. Questions were developed based on how PLC nurture leadership, support a shared vision for learning, influence collaboration, support sharing instructional strategies, and characteristics of support conditions that exist for their PLC. The transcribed answers to the open-ended questions were used for analysis. Through thematic analysis, prominent themes were identified based on Oliver and Huffman's (2016) five dimensions of utilizing PLC to their fullest potential for meaningful collaborative learning. The coding was used to identify themes and new themes that may emerge and aligned to the five dimensions and research question. As suggested by expert researchers in the field, qualitative interview techniques were referenced and designed for flexibility, interactive, and continuous learning (Babbie, 2017; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Thomas, 2017) in order to investigate PLC.

Definitions

Professional Learning Communities: Teachers who meet during or after school regularly to develop lesson plans, examine student work, monitor student progress, assess the effectiveness of instruction, and identify their professional development needs for increasing teacher knowledge, improving teaching strategies, and classroom practices.

Collaboration: Provides a forum for a team of teachers to exchange ideas, knowledge, challenges, strengths, experiences, and practices in order to improve their pedagogy through a process of critical reflection and dialogue with other teachers.

Shared and Supportive Leadership: Provides a structure for teachers to have a voice in the decision making that involves teaching and learning at the school level through professional learning communities.

Shared Vision and Values: Provides an alignment between the purpose and intended outcomes of professional learning communities, developed and agreed upon by the teachers related to the instructional culture and climate.

Collective Learning and Application: Provides a structured opportunity through professional learning communities for teachers to learn from each other through jobembedded dialogue, classroom observations, and modeling, which leads to the opportunity to practice what has been learned from other teachers.

Shared Personal Practice: Provides a structured opportunity through professional learning communities for teachers to share evidence-based strategies, assessments, next steps, student work, and best practices.

Supportive Conditions: Provides appropriate structures such as schedules and time for teachers to collaborate effectively with colleagues who are trustworthy, positive, and productive professionals.

Assumptions

There are several assumptions associated with this study. One assumption underlying this study is that the teachers interviewed understand that PLC was implemented to increase teacher knowledge, improve teaching strategies and classroom practices. Another assumption is that the teachers view dialogue and reflection with other teachers as an essential and necessary strategy that fosters and promotes a critical examination of teacher practice. These assumptions are necessary as the answers to the research question regarding PLC was used for the data analysis process to identify themes based on the study's conceptual framework. It was also assumed that the teachers were honest and thorough when answering the interview questions. Also, as it relates to this study on the perceptions of early childhood teachers' PLC, the participants must be honest and thorough to ensure the results of the study accurately answer the research question.

Scope and Delimitations

Studies on the perceptions of early childhood teachers' PLC are limited; however, there are several decades of research by experts that have been conducted on the benefits of PLC. The site for this study was chosen because the superintendent initiated PLC in the school district. The selected elementary school has been conducting PLC to enhance teacher practice. The site was also chosen because it provides an authentic opportunity to investigate PLC through a district collaboration strategy. The scope of this qualitative

study at a public elementary school in South Carolina included participants identified as early childhood teacher's grades prekindergarten through third grade. Excluded from the study were administrators, instructional coaches, and other faculty members who do not serve students daily. Interview questions allowed for investigating early childhood teachers' perceptions of the five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning based on their PLC at their elementary school. Data gathered from participants was presented using confidentiality labels to protect their privacy, encouraging authentic responses to the interview questions. The interview questions' responses allowed for data to be gathered on the topic and provide thorough answers to the research question. The coding of the interview responses was analyzed the qualitative data to identify themes that emerge from the coding. A thorough account of participant experiences and perceptions afforded teachers, educators, and administrators not employed at this research site the opportunity to assess whether the findings from this study apply to their setting.

Limitations

According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), qualitative interviews allow for examining the real world's complexity by exploring multiple perspectives toward a specific topic. The qualitative study examining the perceptions of early childhood teachers PLC had limitations. One limitation of the study is that it involved one public elementary school in South Carolina. The interviews were conducted with ten early childhood teachers, prekindergarten through third grade in a single school. Due to the small number of participants in the study, results cannot be generalized to all early childhood teachers in public elementary schools.

Additionally, since the research was conducted in one district at one elementary school, this may prevent the generalization of the finding to other similar populations. Another limitation is that the study researcher was the only person to gather the data, analyze the data, and interpret the data. This could lead to the data being influenced through bias with the coding, themes, and interpretation of the data. Although limitations may be potentially possible, the finding may suggest valuable insights into meaningful collaborative learning strategies that may improve teacher instructional practice and enhance teacher knowledge.

Significance

There are numerous reasons to study teacher perceptions of early childhood PLC to improve teacher practice (Gilbert et al., 2018). Oliver and Huffman (2016) suggested addressing the need for improved teacher practices; PLC might be a viable and sustainable option for improving teachers' collaborative practices. According to Hagen and Park (2016), being aware of how adults learn can help education leaders reduce PLC issues while designing adult social learning structures that may be contributed to enhanced student engagement. This qualitative research study examined early childhood teachers' perceptions of effective collaborative practices for early childhood teachers' PLC. In accordance with Voelkel and Chrispeels (2017), the examination of PLC can address the nature and extend the professional learning needed to effectively foster both pedagogical and content knowledge needed by teacher teams to improve teacher practice significantly because there is little empirical research available that evaluates how the complete process of PLC work and how aspects were linked to the intended outcomes

(Binkhorst et al., 2017), the findings of this study can offer insight into how to improve PLC that may result in improved teacher practice through collaboration. Because high-quality early childhood education consistently generates positive child outcomes (van Huizen and Plantenga, 2018), providing adequate and effective educators' training opportunities is crucial (Gilbert et al., 2018; Song & Choi, 2017). Therefore, effective PLC may bring about positive social change by improving the quality of education and how PLC and teachers work together to increase best practices (Pang & Wang, 2016). Correspondingly, this qualitative research may lead to positive social change by developing improved PLC, which could improve teacher self-efficacy, thereby producing more confident and competent educators (Gilbert et al., 2018) and, ultimately, young children.

Summary

Chapter 1 of this dissertation was guided by teachers' problem of inconsistently implementing effective collaborative practices through PLC. As a result of this problem of practice, the purpose of the study, research question, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions of the key concepts essential to the study, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance of the study are described in the first chapter. Chapter 1 is sequenced in this manner in order to purposefully and systematically investigate through qualitative research early childhood teachers' perceptions of effective collaborative practices with early childhood teachers' PLC. Chapter 2 provided a comprehensive review of the current literature within the last five years relevant to PLC, improving teacher practice, and knowledge.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

There is currently a wealth of research on PLC, but there was limited research on PLC for early childhood teachers. Consequently, as a result of decades of research and practice on PLC, researchers have found that this collaborative strategy has the potential to assist teachers with expanding their knowledge and improving their instructional practices. For example, according to Postholm and Waege (2016), teachers must have the opportunity to work together, discuss their teaching experiences, observe their colleagues, and provide feedback to better their practice. Additionally, Wagner et al., (2019) found that recent reviews of research on the characteristics of effective professional learning were that it nurtures collaboration and collective participation among teachers, promotes active learning through teaching, observation and reflection, and maintains alignment with teachers' current concerns about standards and curriculum initiatives.

There appears to be consensus in several research studies that teachers' opportunity to collaborate in professional learning communities, which involved teachers meeting consistently for joint learning, enhancing instructional practices, and lesson planning, is crucial for high-quality professional development (Attorps & Kellner, 2017). Because of the positive influence PLC can have on enhancing instructional practices, this study addressed why prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' participation in PLC does not improve instructional practices. During the last few decades, PLC was implemented to enhance teacher instructional practices in many schools. While many teachers are consistently participating in PLC, the purpose of this qualitative research study is to better understand prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' perceptions of

how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices in a public elementary school in South Carolina. Peer-reviewed articles and professional text on PLC from 2015 to 2019 were reviewed and used to write the literature review for Chapter 2. Chapter 2 includes studies on PLC and specifically the findings related to shared and supportive leadership, shared vision and values, collective learning and application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions.

Specifically, Chapter 2 described what the research has revealed about the five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning for teachers previously mentioned.

Finally, this chapter summarized the culture and practices desired due to the five dimensions, best practices for PLC, and discuss the gap in the literature.

Literature Search Strategy

A thorough review of the literature was conducted to inform this qualitative study, provide a foundation of knowledge, and acknowledge findings from other research studies on PLC. A search of peer-reviewed articles and professional books published within the last five years regarding PLC was conducted using Walden University's online research database. Academic Search Complete, Education Source, Education Resources Information Center (ERIC), PsycINFO, SocINDEX, and Teacher Reference Center were the databases used for this literature review. Keywords used for the search were professional learning communities, professional learning teams, supportive leadership, supportive conditions, collegial learning, collegial inquiry communities, intentional communities, teacher collaboration, teacher leadership, professional development, a community of practice, and faculty development. Approximately 150 peer-reviewed

articles were reviewed from Walden University's library on PLC, and over 55 were relevant to this qualitative study.

Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation

This study's conceptual framework was of Olivier and Huffman's (2016) theory for utilizing PLC to their fullest potential. This theory highlights five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning to increase teaching and learn for teachers and their students (Olivier and Huffman, 2016). According to Olivier and Huffman (2016), the five essential dimensions were shared and supportive leadership, values, vision, collective learning, application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions. These five dimensions that emphasize the need for continuous improvement helped inform the research question's development, interview questions, data analysis themes, and themes that may emerge throughout the research process. These dimensions were reflected in the research question. The five dimensions were also components of the data analysis themes expected and new themes that may emerge. These dimensions were essential for interpreting the results and findings and can inform recommendations that may enhance PLC collaborative practices.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable

The literature review from peer-reviewed and academic journals and professional books support meaningful collaborative learning through PLC. A review of the literature on shared and supportive leadership, shared vision and values, collective learning and application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions seek to explain the benefits of collaborative practices through the implementation of PLC. The significance of collaborative practices through PLC was explored and reviewed in the literature

review procedure. First, there was a review of PLC literature followed by reviewing the five dimensions' findings.

Professional Learning Communities

The concept of PLC first emerged in the educational arena as early as the 1960s when researchers offered this collaborative concept as an alternative to teachers working in isolation in the United States (Solution Tree, 2020). While there is no universally agreed-upon definition Prenger, Poortman and Handelzalts (2019) described PLC as a group of people sharing and critically questioning their practice in a consistent, reflective, collaborative, inclusive, and growth mindset manner. Likewise, Woodland and Mazur (2015) indicated that PLC allows teachers to collaborate within teacher teams to build a shared culture of high-quality instructional practices and student learning by analyzing assessment data, solving practice problems, and creating evidence-based lessons plans. To engage in best practices related to the initial intent of PLC, specific questions related to teaching and learning should drive collaborative teacher teams' work. According to DuFour and Reeves (2016, p 94), the four questions that should be addressed in effective PLC are: "What do we want students to learn? How will we know if they have learned it? What will we do if they have not learned it? How will we provide extended learning opportunities for students who have mastered the content?"

Educational reform initiatives have stressed the benefits of teachers interacting and exchanging information with each other (Benoliel & Schechter, 2017; Carpenter, 2017). Some researchers claimed that collaborative professional learning was viewed as a high leverage strategy for improving and reforming schools as well as enhancing staff quality (Bailey & Jakicic, 2019; Plows, 2017; Zheng, Yin, & Li, 2019). Also, Keung et

al. (2019) pointed out that current educational reform initiatives are focused on improving collaborative cultures and teachers' instructional practices through building PLC. Hence, Bush (2018) and Horn, Garner, Kane, and Brasel (2017) noted a growing interest in PLC's role in school improvement to create and sustain learning through teacher collaboration.

A PLC of teachers was defined as an organizational strategy for school reform and improvement that has been extremely effective for propelling teachers' professional learning (Park, Lee, & Cooc, 2019). Similarly, PLC has been defined as a group of teachers who share and critically dialogue about their instructional practices to reflect, learn, and growing professionally (Doğan & Adams, 2018). PLC has also been described as a group of teachers within a school environment who share and question their instructional practice through a strategic process (Gilbert, Voelkel, & Johnson, 2018). Additionally, PLC was defined as an ongoing process in which teachers collaborate consistently on a problem within their practice through inquiry and action research to achieve better results for their students through improved instructional practices (Bailey & Jakicic, 2019). These collaborative workgroups allow scheduled and ample time for teachers to routinely engage in job-embedded collegial discussions that create opportunities for learning (Buttram & Farley-Ripple, 2016).

According to Horn and Kane (2016), strong PLC foster trust that supports teachers with trying new instructional strategies to develop new instructional practices.

To address the need for school reform in the United States, early research and the current findings regarding PLC allowed PLC to surface as a viable and sustainable option for continuous school improvement (Auslander, Meyers, Schafer, Kavangh, and Haardoerfer,

2018; Kalkan, 2016; Olivier & Huffman, 2016; Wilson, 2016; Woodland, 2016). According to Gilbert et al. (2018), Voelkel and Chrispeels (2017), Wilson (2016), and Woodland (2016), a powerful opportunity for school reform is highly conceivable when teachers engage in authentic PLC, and increased student learning is then a potential byproduct of such communities. Sjoer and Meirink (2016) asserted that educational reform literature strongly suggests that teachers are considered essential for achieving classroom practices changes. Furthermore, Kalkan (2015) and Woodland (2016) posited PLC facilitate professional learning, develop new skills, strengthen pedagogy, and enhance professional practice for teachers. Therefore, PLC foster and promote building teacher capacity through the collaboration for sustainable improvement (Damjanovic & Blank, 2018; Dufour, 2016; Olivier & Huffman, 2016; Thessin, 2015; Voelkel and Chrispeels, 2017).

A PLC was described as a collective inquiry vehicle through action research (Woodland, 2016). The PLC cooperative mindset allows for creating and distributing collective knowledge by facilitating new skills and strengthening pedagogy (Voelkel and Chrispeels, 2017). Subsequently, the whole staff can become more significant than its educators (Visone, 2016). PLC exemplifies social constructivism, which allows teachers to learn from one another to enhance professional practice. Teachers collaborating through PLC enhance collegial learning and allows teachers to share and learn evidence-based practices.

Additionally, Bannister (2015) noted that teacher communities are a learning resource for teachers in the same content area, school, grade level, or teachers with a common practice problem whose collaboration was intended to provide a robust teacher

setting learning. Gee and Whaley (2016) asserted that the use of collaborative PLC is the best and professionally rewarding way to enhance professional learning. Teacher collaboration is also widely acknowledged as a powerful tool for professional teacher learning and sustainable school improvement (Gee & Whaley, 2016; Sjoer & Meirink, 2016).

Thornton and Cherrington (2019) noted that it is essential that PLC has a clear purpose and focus on achieving goals and enhancing teachers' professional practice for optimal benefits. Gray and Summers (2015) shared that having access to education experts and knowledgeable, experienced, and effective teachers during PLCS enhances teachers' benefits and helps them do their job more effectively. Additionally, Postholm and Waege (2016) posited that PLC, which allows teachers time to reflect on professional text or success stories in the classroom, may also support teachers' learning. However, as many researchers have found, it takes considerable time for a fully functioning collaborative PLC to become established, and once established, they are extremely difficult to implement and maintain (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Virtually PLC should be supported by administrators and designed to allow educators who provide instruction to students' time to solve, reflect on their practice, collaborate, discuss interventions, and build their competency (Buttram & Farley-Ripple, 2016). Therefore, Gee and Whaley (2016) emphasized that PLC do not develop spontaneously or by invitation; they must be strategically designed.

This study's conceptual framework is based on Oliver and Huffman's (2016) theory regarding PLCs and school reform. The framework developed by these researchers was appropriate for this research study regarding PLC. The framework presents an

approach to assist school leaders and educational stakeholders in implementing and sustaining highly effective PLC that enhance teachers' instructional practices. The conceptual framework evaluates PLC through five specific dimensions, helping school reform shift from initiation to implementation to enhance teachers' learning. The five key dimensions are shared and supportive leadership, values, vision, collective learning, application, shared persona practice, and supportive conditions. Oliver and Huffman's (2016) research defined five dimensions of effective PLC. Since the purpose of this study is to find out if PLC enhances instructional practices for teachers in an elementary school, this theory was selected to study the culture and practices desired for initiating and sustaining highly effective PLC.

Shared and Supportive Leadership

According to de Jong, Meirink, and Admiraal (2019), the power of sharing instructional ideas is not as pertinent as it should be, particularly for teachers with limited collaborative experience or limited pedagogical knowledge and skills. Research on PLC has emphasized the need for shared and supportive leadership to enhance teachers' professional learning. McBrayer, Chance, Pannell, and Wells (2018) noted that school-level administrators' accountability and responsibility is overwhelming. To counteract their vast workload, distributing responsibility may help administrators accomplish their massive workload (McBrayer et al., 2018). School administrators sharing power, authority, and decision-making while nurturing leadership at all levels within a school, mainly promoting leadership with teachers, is highly recommended (McBrayer et al., 2018; and Olivier & Huffman, 2016). Hairon, Goh, and Chua (2015) revealed that the optimal function of teacher leadership is in the direct establishment of PLC in order to

exercise teacher collegial relations, collective engagement for improvement in teaching practices. Hence, teacher leadership is essential, and without their active engagement, change and development are less likely related to enhanced professional practice (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Researchers suggested that teachers who support each other through coaching models feel more empowered and develop collective efficacy and are more eager to learning and improve their instructional practices (Johnson, Finlon, Kobak, & Izard, 2017).

No individual in a formal leadership role can possess all the knowledge needed to lead today's schools. Therefore, leadership must evolve as a distributed and collective process (Visone, 2016). Supportive and shared leadership involves positional leaders promoting leadership in others and including them in decision-making related to teaching and learning (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019; Reed & Swaminathan, 2016). Hence, school leaders need to empower teachers to take an active role as leaders in their schools, classrooms, and PLC (Qiao, Yu, & Zang, 2017).

According to Sjoer and Meirink (2016), educational reform literature has found teachers are the key agents for achieving classroom practices changes. As a result, allowing, encouraging, promoting, brokering, supporting, and ensuring teachers were positioned in leadership roles within the PLC process may enhance teachers' instructional processes. Voogt, Pieters, and Handelzalts (2016) found that promoting curriculum change through teacher leadership is beneficial when teacher leaders can coach and support their peers, develop curriculum, plan instructional lessons together, and determine which strategies should be used during instruction based on the content, learner, and available resources. Teacher leadership as it relates to the PLC means that

teachers are the facilitators of their learning and are provided the autonomy to engage in and lead activities that address their questions and instructional needs (Rönnerman, Edwards-Groves, & Grootenboer, 2015). Therefore, teacher leaders take on leadership roles by influencing school-wide instruction or policy, disseminating best practices, offering support for differentiation, or leading their colleagues through a protocol that focuses on content-specific issues to enhance teacher capacity and instructional practices (McBrayer et al., 2018).

Hallam, Smith, Hite, Hite, and Wilcox (2015) discussed the importance of using shared and supportive leadership to maximize and sustain effective collaborative practices within PLC. The positional leader's role is crucial as they influence the conditions under which the PLC operates. They also need to encourage others to become involved in leadership and engage them in meaningful shared learning (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). When principals distribute to influence school instructional decisions, they can increase trust among teachers and enhance the PLC collective responsibility for professional learning (Hallam et al., 2015).

McBrayer et al. (2018) conducted a mixed-method case study for one school year specifically focused on PLC to understand these complex social phenomena. The purpose of the study sought to examine how a PLC initiative based on distributed leadership was utilized to implement collaborative, purposeful, and sustainable professional learning (McBrayer et al., 2018). McBrayer et al. (2018) found that distributed leadership among teachers effectively improved professional and classroom practices. The study results emphasized the value-added to the school's continuous improvement process when shared authority is promoted and nurtured by school administrators.

McBrayer et al. (2018) posited that in order for PLC to be a vehicle for improved teacher performance, school leaders must establish shared governance among their teachers. Stein, Macaluso, and Stanulius (2016) recommended that transformational school leaders provide on-going opportunities to ownership of new ideas and shared decision-making. According to Vijayadevar, Thorton, and Cherrington (2019), teacher leadership manifests itself in the form of teachers being leaders of PLC, making decisions about selecting interventions and strategies that were used to enhance student learning, sharing responsibilities as well as teachers' participation in school-wide and instructional decision making. Additionally, teacher leadership allows all teachers to play an influential role in collaborative learning, educational change, and curriculum decisions to improve instructional practices (Colmer, 2017).

Huggins, Lesseig, and Rhodes (2017) shared that teacher leadership has been defined as a process through which teachers influence other teachers and other school community members to improve teaching practices and ultimately increase student achievement. Moreover, research has concluded that teacher leaders can lead the school by increasing teacher collaboration, spreading best practices, boosting professional learning, offering assistance with differentiated instruction, and focusing on content-specific instructional issues (Wenner & Campbell, 2017). Therefore, teachers' selection for leadership roles is critical to the continuous school improvement process as they were needed to foster and support shared norms and behaviors.

Shared Vision and Values

According to Turner, Christensen, Kackar-Cam, Fulmer, & Trucano (2018), shared values and norms foster and promote teachers' collective responsibility related to

beliefs about student learning, teaching behaviors, and human relationships between schools and society. Research has indicated that the most commonly cited dimension of successful PLC is the teachers' ability to establish shared values and vision related to teaching and learning (Philpott & Oates, 2017). It has also been noted that to reach a similar goal with more than one person, agreement on how the goal might be reached may facilitate achievement rather than producing barriers. Likewise, values and visions within a professional learning community have been described as the norms, practices, or behaviors that guide teaching and learning decisions within PLC (Olivier & Huffman, 2016). Additionally, shared vision and values have been described as creating a group's shared goals and purpose, aligned with a vision and mission (Olivier & Huffman, 2016). Ning, Lee, and Lee (2015) argued that when team members within a PLC can set aside individual differences, they can collaborate efficiently to determine and implement best teaching practices through reflective dialogue and action research.

Additionally, Ning et al. (2015) noted that PLC's basic principle is when teachers engaged in collective values to achieve shared goals. According to Sompong, Erawan, and Dharm-tad-sa-na-non (2015), PLC that function with congruent goals focused on teaching and learning tend to be much more effective with improving instructional practice than those that do not exhibit this characteristic (Reed & Swaminathan, 2016). Also, Goodnough and Murphy (2017) and Sjoer and Meirink (2016) asserted that differences could hinder a collective task in teachers' ideas or beliefs. Therefore, PLC should have a component that addresses teachers' beliefs and practices because they appear to sustain teacher practice through this collaborative process of established norms (Lynch, 2017).

Thornton and Cherrington (2019) revealed that similar values and vision within a PLC ensure that all teachers agree on behaviors or practices that support continuous school improvement. Also, Chen, Lee, Lin, and Zhang (2016) argued that shared values and vision become critical for teachers to identify with and own in order to be able to follow norms and build a culture of collegial collaboration. Damjanovic and Blank (2018) wrote that the opportunity to analyze student work during a PLC allows teachers to construct a shared understanding of what quality student work is and what instructional strategies are beneficial to enhance student work. Also, Ning et al. (2015) discussed that shared values and vision among teachers support instructional behaviors that guide teaching and learning decisions. Subsequently, when values and norms are aligned within PLC, commitments are strengthened. Members can depend on one another to reinforce objectives and implement effective strategies that support enhanced professional practice (Ning et al., 2015). Therefore, establishing and maintaining a culture focused on collaborative learning is essential to a productive PLC (Ning et al., 2015) even in instances of turnover when new members may bring a different perspective, which could strengthen the norm and elicit new collaborative learning (Thornton & Cherrington, 2019). Lynch (2017) further argues that changes in teaching practice have led to changes in beliefs, and changes in knowledge have produced changes in beliefs, and subsequently, beliefs can impact practice.

Sjoer and Meirink (2016) conducted a study to add to the research related to collaborative teacher learning. A Montessori PLC of six primary school teachers voluntarily participated in the research study for one school year to identify the factors contributing to their norms. The study indicated that an essential factor in the team's

collaboration was their ability to achieve synthesis around a science and technology curriculum due to their shared values and vision around science and technology education for early childhood learners (Sjoer & Meirink, 2016). An exciting aspect of the one-year study with these six elementary teachers was that they all could subscribe to the vision, which seems to be one of the most significant factors for promoting and sustaining collaboration.

As noted above, ensuring a shared vision and values are established and maintained within a PLC was cultivated collaborative practices among teachers. Colmer (2017) adds to the research by noting that critical reflection and professional dialogue focused on pedagogical practice stimulate professional growth by assisting teachers in evaluating their values and ultimately transforming their instructional practices.

Additionally, a highly effective PLC's infrastructure helps establish and maintain a school-wide culture and climate focused on building and sustaining continuous improvement efforts (Penner-Williams, Diaz, Gonzales Worthen, 2017).

Thus, shared values among members in a PLC play a critical role and are essential to effective collaborative learning (Oliver & Huffman, 2016). Also, having shared values within a PLC helps support schools' purpose, which is student achievement (Chen et al., 2016). Some examples of shared values within an effective and sustainable PLC are that all students can learn at reasonably high levels, given the teacher's developmentally appropriate support (Owen, 2016). Another shared value essential to effective PLC was designed to focus on student learning through collaboration among teachers (Oliver & Huffman, 2016). Additionally, other shared values that support continuous school improvement through PLC is creating a learning culture for all students to include

outstanding education students, having high expectations for all students as well as having a shared value that PLC is a priority and should not be canceled or interrupted (Chen et al., 2016).

Collective Learning and Application

As noted by many researchers, certain factors develop effective PLC. Since many school systems within the United States are using PLC to increase professional learning and enhance professional practice, implement professional learning that is collective, purposeful, and sustainable (Ho and Lee, 2016; Ho, Lee, and Teng, 2016). The study may be beneficial for schools to cultivate certain factors within their PLC for optimal effectiveness. Damjanovic and Blank (2018) noted that a wealth of peer-reviewed literature acknowledges the benefits of collaboration and the impact collaboration, for professional learning, has on cultivating PLC. Turner et al. (2018) described the collaboration as more than just collegial relationships; it also refers to teachers creating new knowledge alongside other teachers to improve their practice. True collaboration among teachers involves seeking help from colleagues to develop new skills, making practice public by opening classrooms up for observations or peer coaching, and engaging in reflective dialogue, leading to deeper understanding resulting in improved instruction (Turner et al., 2018). Collective learning and application are described as the teachers' opportunity to share information, work collaboratively to plan, solve problems, and improve learning opportunities in their classroom through collaboration with colleagues (Olivier & Huffman, 2016). Capraro et al. (2016) found that teachers who have adequate time for collaboration can improve their instructional practice by obtaining and using knowledge from other teachers rather than working in isolation. According to

Dufour and Reeves (2016), an actual PLC functions as a collaborative team rather than in isolation and take collective responsibility for student learning.

Consequently, Buttram and Farley-Ripple (2016) claimed that PLCs provide one option for fostering teacher collegiality and shared accountability. Hence, numerous researchers' familiar premise is that a collaborative design embedded within PLC positively influences professional learning and practice (Colmer, 2017; Damjanovic and Blank, 2018; Sjoer and Meirink, 2016; Voogt et al., 2016). Those peer interactions provide a forum for exchanging ideas, enhancing pedagogical knowledge, solving instructional problems, and sharing classroom experiences to improve their general practice (Binkhorst, Poortman, McKenney, van Joolingen, 2018). Additionally, there have been numerous benefits to teachers having quality time to collaborate to improve their teaching practices. According to Voogt et al. (2016) and Ho and Lee (2016); collaboration allowed teachers to generate new knowledge about teaching practices, adjusted teaching strategies, generated sustainable and transferable teaching practices, solve curriculum issues, and enhance the content knowledge related to their subject matter.

Recent research surrounding professional learning for teachers has directed educational decision-makers towards collaborative strategies because of their ability to build capacity through social means, address relevant instructional and individual needs, and enable teachers to construct knowledge through a sustainable approach (Bowe & Gore, 2017). Furthermore, collective learning and application for teachers are essential to school reform as it involves staff sharing and planning to solve problems and improve learning opportunities. Consequently, in schools, teachers have the organizational

structure that allows them to develop pedagogical knowledge about teaching within an authentic job-embedded context because of the collaborative framework (Ho & Lee, 2016; Kruse & Johnson, 2017).

Teachers have to plan for instruction and collaborate with their colleagues should be strategically designed, so teachers have time to share pedagogical practices to solve instructional issues. The research revealed that collaboration offers a unique opportunity for job-embedded professional learning that allows teachers to enhance their practice (Penner-Williams et al., 2017). Additionally, it has been argued that collective learning and application results in teachers working collaboratively and engaging in regular dialogue (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Peer interactions through a PLC provide a forum for exchanging ideas, knowledge, problems, and experiences (Sjoer & Meirink, 2016). Hence, dialogue as a form of collaboration allows teachers to solve instructional challenges, plan for instruction, and engage in reflective practices through a formal PLC structure (Damjanovic & Blank, 2018). Having the opportunity to transfer learning through collaborative practices means that teachers can apply knowledge gained through PLC into their classroom (Penner-Williams et al., 2017).

Bahous et al. (2016) conducted a study with teachers, principals, and some students in Beirut's four primary schools. Data was collected through semi-structured interviews to investigate how teachers develop their knowledge and skills to construct learning for their students (Bahous et al., 2016). After analyzing the interview data, the transcripts yielded themes such as collaborative practice, support that teachers receive from their professional learning, and commitment to their learning and their students (Bahous et al., 2016). Bahous et al. (2016) found that teachers valued the importance of

collaborative learning because it was linked to their professional learning and the students' engagement and learning.

Shared Personal Practice

A vital foundation element of PLC is teachers' opportunity to share their instructional strategies, techniques, expertise, resources, and practices with their colleagues to improve practice (Capraro et al., 2016; Horn et al., 2017). According to Thornton and Cherrington (2019), shared personal practice involves teachers observing and giving each other feedback, which should result in rigorous debate and discussion for increased professional learning and enhanced professional practice. Similarly, Olivier and Huffman (2016) described shared personal practice as the opportunity for teachers to meet and observe one another to provide feedback on instructional practices to enhance teacher practice and improve student learning. Also, Brown, Horn, and King (2018) found that an essential component of PLC is sharing personal practice, which requires teachers to participate in activities such as peer coaching, classroom observations, and discussion to enhance their professional practice. Therefore, the structure of using peer coaching as a collaborative learning mechanism to share personal practices provides a sustainable, effective strategy for fostering a teaching community that encourages observation and reflection of best classroom practices (Johnson et al., 2017). The collective inquiry that occurs among teachers as they share their practice is critical to improving teacher pedagogy and instructional practice. Chen et al. (2016) noted that PLC improvement and innovation are only possible as teachers collaborate and share their practices through dialogue and rigorous deliberations about teaching and learning strategies.

Risk-taking, deep reflection, and learning from colleagues are all benefits of collegial visits, but teachers collectively must appreciate these potential benefits before anyone visiting another's classroom (Visone, 2016). Collegial visits can help schools deepen their learning and improve their practice (McNeill, Butt, and Armstrong, 2016; Visone, 2016). In particular, McNeill et al. (2016) and Sjoer and Meirink (2016) stated that observing colleagues teaching practices through peer observations is an important learning activity for teachers. Numerous education experts advocate for regular classroom observations or instructional rounds with teachers with foci in mind to improve professional learning and practice through PLC (Visone, 2016). A possible solution is a promising practice facilitated through PLC known as the collegial visit, which can increase collaboration, counteract teacher isolation, and improve educator practice (McNeill et al., Visone, 2016).

Chen et al. (2016) conducted a study to investigate the critical factors of developing effective PLC in Taiwanese schools. The study was conducted in two phases. Chen et al. (2016) conducted a phase I of the study, which consisted of a questionnaire distributed to 181 teachers with a response rate of 81%. Phase II of the study was implemented to determine the questionnaire's reliability and validity with a response rate of 62%. Chen et al. (2016) found that shared values and vision had the highest mean value of 4.55, with collegial trust having a mean value of 4.54. Overall, these results from this study indicated that shared vision, along with supportive and shared leadership through collegial relationships, could help teachers learn collaboratively through shared PLC practices. A critical aspect of sustaining PLC is supportive conditions.

Supportive Conditions

According to Glen, Blackberry, and Kearney (2017), as schools strive to reform their teaching and learning practices, cultivating, supporting, and empowering teachers should be essential. The establishment of effective PLC within a learning organization relies mostly on school leaders' actions and support (Jones & Thessin, (2015). Through dialogue, teachers should be supported to analyze and evaluate their existing knowledge base and instructional practices about the practices they would like to develop or change. Chen et al. (2016) asserted that supportive conditions that include available infrastructures, administrative coordination, access to resources, and intentionally scheduled time to improve instructional practices nurtured professional growth among teachers (Sacks, 2017). In like manner, when such organizational structures exist, empowered teachers, supported by administrators, were willing and able to continue their meaningful work through teachers' collective participation (Mundschenk & Fuchs, 2016).

Conversely, Gilbert et al. (2018) revealed that poorly constructed support systems also contribute to difficulties with implementing PLC for schools as leaders often struggle to cultivate collaborative learning or establish structures that facilitate teacher professional growth and ensure PLC's success. Subsequently, the absence of school leadership support is one of the most significant barriers to PLC (Voogt et al., 2016). Hence, mounting evidence exists that PLC supported by school leadership cultivates new knowledge and skills and changes teacher practice for the better (Voogt et al., 2016). Similarly, Olivier and Huffman (2016) claimed that with the consistency and level at which PLC is being implemented in schools, the amount and type of district support directly impact whether schools can flourish and sustain highly effective collaborative

practices. Likewise, supportive conditions are the backbone for sustaining a high performing PLC (Voogt et al., 2016).

Researchers have acknowledged in numerous studies that supportive conditions related to building strong professional relationships are incredibly challenging (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Supported conditions included relational conditions such as respect and trust and structural conditions such as time, PLC size, resources, and supportive systems (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Building relationships and establishing trust was a prerequisite to the effective implementation of PLC (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). Relational trust is necessary for robust conversations and dialogue, fostering, and promoting effective collaborative practices within PLC (Thornton and Cherrington, 2019). According to Horn et al. (2016), strong professional communities foster trust and support teachers' risk-taking in developing new instructional practices. Therefore, support is essential to highly effective PLC (Voogt et al., 2016). Likewise, school leadership teams need to develop adequate support systems for PLC to be effective (Voogt et al., 2016).

Song and Choi (2017) conducted a study by collecting and analyzing 375 questionnaires in Seoul, South Korea, from 40 elementary schools. The study found that collaboration through PLC is stimulated when adequate support from school leadership, and collegial relationships among teachers is evident. According to Song and Choi (2017), these factors positively influence collaborative practices' success and sustainability through PLC. Song and Choi's (2017) study examined the effects of PLC on schools' effectiveness and elements that promote collaborative structure. Song and Choi (2017) concluded that the most critical factors that positively influenced PLC were

supportive relationships among teachers and principals. Song and Choi (2017) posited that teacher and principal support's organizational features could ultimately lead to sustainable school reform.

According to Oliver and Huffman (2016), as school learning, communities begin to learn about initiating and sustaining PLC, school systems in the United States are choosing to organize their continuous improvement efforts around these five dimensions. Oliver and Huffman's (2016) theory provided a construct for collecting data, analysis, and interpretation of the results for this study focused on what extent PLC improves teachers' instructional practices. One of the primary reasons this conceptual framework for this study was selected is that it presents an approach to assist instructional leaders and school systems with organizing highly effective PLC that enhance instructional practices for teachers. The five dimensions are shared and supportive leadership, values, vision, collective learning, application, shared persona practice, and supportive conditions. Since the purpose of this study is to find out if PLC enhances instructional practices for teachers in an elementary school, this theory was selected to study the culture and practices desired for initiating, implementing, and sustaining highly effective PLC.

Summary and Conclusions

There have been numerous studies conducted on PLC in the school sector; however, less research has focused on PLC in early childhood education. Additionally, other researchers argue that little research focused on teachers' specific interactions inside PLC, meaning most studies neglect the local context. Consequently, there is much research on PLC's benefits; however, research on early childhood PLC is limited.

Although there may be gaps in the research on PLC, many empirical studies confirm that it is undeniable that PLC can be a useful organizational strategy for collaborative practices among teachers (Gray, Kruse, & Tarter, 2016; Hallam, 2015). Therefore, key findings from the review of research on PLC indicate the importance of shared and supportive leadership, shared vision and values, collective learning and application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions to positively influence teachers' professional learning and enhance their instructional practices.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this qualitative research study is to better understand prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. The researcher conducted this study to understand the essence of developing and sustaining a high performing PLC to support individual and collaborative professional learning among teachers. Furthermore, the researcher explored teachers' perceptions to make meaning of how their instructional practices were enhanced through professional learning communities.

In Chapter 3, the researcher described the setting where the study was conducted. Next, the researcher described the research design and the rationale for the study. The research design and rationale were followed by a description of the researcher's non-bias role. A detailed discussion of the study methodology included participant selection, instrumentation, recruitment procedures, interview participation procedures, and data collection. This chapter will also include the data analysis process and how the researcher established its trustworthiness and validity. Finally, the chapter will end with a discussion of ethical procedures and safeguards.

Setting (Quantitative and Mixed Methods)

The qualitative research occurred at a rural elementary school in a Southeastern area within the United States of America. The public elementary school where the study occurred enrolls an estimated 300 students in grades prekindergarten through fifth grade was also identified as a Title I School. The teachers have been engaged in PLC under their district's direction and understand its intended purpose is to enhance teacher

practice. Eighteen teachers serve students prekindergarten through fifth grade. The school has been engaged in professional learning communities for three years, with 2019-2020 being the third year of implementation.

Research Design and Rationale

The following research question was used to conduct this study:

RQ1: What are early childhood teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices?

The study's goal was to understand the teachers' perceptions of PLC. This qualitative study used interviews to gather data. The research design was used to better understand the perceptions of early childhood teachers in their PLC. This study will seek to understand the characteristics that contribute to PLC, which create and sustain professional learning and changes in instructional practices for teachers. The study's overall concept was that PLC is highly beneficial for improving teachers' instructional practices through collaborative strategies. When implemented appropriately, this phenomenon of PLC was utilized to implement collaborative, purposeful, and sustainable professional learning that improves teachers' instructional practices. As a result of the study's purpose, a qualitative study with interviews was the research design because it connected the purpose, research question, and data collected. The qualitative design is also appropriate for a small research project, with 10-12 participants were interviewed.

Merriam (1998) claimed that the necessary qualitative studies are the most common form of qualitative research. Basic qualitative research allowed the researcher to seek understanding from the participants' experiences. Merriam (2002) noted that necessary qualitative studies were conducted to understand how participants interpret,

construct, or make meaning. According to Creswell (2013), a primarily qualitative study method was warranted when a researcher seeks to understand a situation or phenomenon by talking to those who experienced or influenced it. Similarly, Lichtman (2010) asserted that a primary qualitative research method was used when a researcher seeks to describe a person's perceptions of an issue based on their personal beliefs. Creswell further argued that a qualitative method consisting of interviews is appropriate when a researchers' goal is to learn more about a phenomenon by obtaining data from persons experiencing the situation, actively engaged in the research problem, or are influenced by or from the situation. As a researcher who wants to examine early childhood teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices, the qualitative semi-structured interview method is most appropriate.

While there are other qualitative approaches, they are not as appropriate for this study. Babbie (2017) cautioned that ethnographers seek to discover and understand those they are studying while in their natural environment. Correspondingly, Thomas (2017) shared that ethnographers position themselves as investigation instruments because they were participants in their studying and observing situations. Additionally, Creswell (2013) claimed that an ethnographic study would not be beneficial because the population being observed or studied is uniquely distinctive or that comparisons with other participants' populations would not yield reliable data. Thus, an ethnographic study is most appropriate when a researcher wants to understand, describe, and discover norms or behaviors (Leedy & Ormrod, 2014). Since the purpose of this qualitative study is to understand better early childhood teachers' perceptions of how early childhood

professional learning communities enhance teacher's instructional practices, an ethnographic study would not be an appropriate research design.

The grounded theory attempts to derive theories from an analysis of the patterns, themes, and common categories discovered in observational data (Babbie, 2017). While the grounded theory is another qualitative design that could be used for this study, Creswell (2013) noted that this research design attempts to gather information from research participants and use it to develop or modify a theory about a particular phenomenon. Babbie (2017) purported that grounded theory is based on what has already been learned about the phenomena and can create expectations that could constrain what the research would look at and see and how the data would be interpreted. This research aims not to formulate or make modifications based on the findings from this study.

A case study is another qualitative research design that could have been selected for this study. A case study could have been used if a PLC was going to be compared to another PLC. According to Thomas (2017), a case study involves in-depth research into one case or a small set of cases involving many methods and procedures to understand a phenomenon. Likewise, Creswell (2013) shared that a case study would best support a study if the purpose were to compare one case to another. Additionally, an essential component of a case study was that the study was conducted in the study's natural setting (Yin, 2009). Since this study aims to understand better early childhood teachers' perceptions of how PLC enhance instructional practices through interviews only, a case study was not selected as the research design. Also, since this study involved semi-structured interviews, a case study is not appropriate since there was no attempt to compare or contrast PLC.

Another qualitative design that could be considered, but would not be appropriate, is a longitudinal study. According to Thomas (2017), a longitudinal study involves gathering data from many individuals over an extended period. A longitudinal study has a crucial factor in time. The researcher does not plan to understand PLC's development or progression; this method would not work appropriately for this study.

Role of the Researcher (Qualitative)

The researcher's role was to interviews participants. The researcher gathered data through semi-structured interviews on teachers' perceptions of effective collaborative practices with early childhood teachers' PLC. It is important to note that the researcher does not work or serve in any supervisory capacity at the school where the data were collected, nor does the researcher have any professional influence over the participants. The researcher does not have any personal or professional relationships with any of the study participants. Participants were informed before each interview that no adverse consequences were imposed due to their participation in the interview sessions. Nor will their names or any identifying information be used against them for retaliation for their participation. The interviewer's goal made the participants as comfortable as possible during the interview process and ensure they understand we can dialogue as equals in the conversation.

As a result of the researcher's personal experience with PLC at the state and local levels and also while serving as a school leader, the researcher used PLC to enhance instructional practices and student achievement. While serving in a support role at the district and state level, the researcher used PLC to support schools in their continuous improvement efforts. In every situation, while PLC was implemented, there was an

increase in learning for teachers and students. The data collected provided evidence of improved teaching and learning for teachers and students; however, some were greater than others. The researcher's awareness of the bias brings value to the research as intentionally acknowledge it to ensure it does not inappropriately affect the interpretation of the data in particular ways. Thomas (2017) discussed that a researcher should recognize their position, preferences, knowledge, likes, and dislikes, affecting how they perceive and interpret the world.

To further address any bias, the researcher avoided interview questions, which may cause participants to respond in a particular way. Therefore, interviewers were not asked questions that require them to select one specific answer. The interviewees' questions were open-ended questions that allowed them to respond any way they choose. Hence, this allowed them to elaborate on their answers or raise new issues or thoughts. Babbie (2017) claimed that a researcher could avoid bias by cultivating a conscious awareness of their values and preferences and adhering to established data collection techniques and analysis techniques. The researcher avoided bias by providing the interview transcripts to participants and requested that they notify the researcher of any errors. Rubin and Rubin (2012) shared that it is crucial to transcribe, summarize, and quote your interviewees accurately.

Participant Selection (Qualitative)

The researcher received informal verbal approval from the superintendent to focus on one elementary school in the district engaged in PLC with their early childhood teachers. The interviews were conducted with early childhood teachers only in grades prekindergarten through third grade to understand better teachers' perceptions of effective collaborative practices within their PLC. Formal approval was sought once the proposal was approved by Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). For this research, teachers were defined as a certified member of the school staff who is the teacher on record for teaching and learning daily to students in grades pre-kindergarten through third grade.

District administrators, interventionists, instructional coaches, assistant principals, and principals were not selected as participants because they may not offer the specific details or relevant information classroom teachers are likely to provide regarding collaboration or collaborative practices within PLC. There is only one principal, one assistant principal, and one interventionist in the identified school. Many of their roles and responsibilities are drastically different, meaning their collaboration on similar initiatives may be limited. It would not provide information on collaborative practices within PLC to the extent necessary for this study.

Sampling Strategy

Qualitative research is about the pursuit of viewing, understanding, and engaging with people and making meaning of their experiences (Ravitch & Mittenfelner Carl, 2016). Johnston and George (2018) and Binkhorst et al. (2017) noted that qualitative research design supported gathering, analyzing, and describing teachers' perceptions

engaged in PLC. This study's potential participants were ten early childhood teachers who teach pre-kindergarten through third-grade students in a public school in the southeastern county in the United States of America. Additionally, to be a viable participant for this study, the teacher must have engaged in the PLC process in the identified school the current year the study was conducted and the previous school year. Therefore, the interview data were gathered from purposefully selected participants involved in the implementation of PLC during the same timeframe. The justification for the number of participants was based on professional articles that discuss qualitative studies. According to Francis et al. (2010), ten participants were considered by qualitative researchers adequate for reaching saturation. Additionally, Fusch and Ness (2015) suggested that the research and findings' quality may be flawed by not reaching saturation.

Judgmental or purposive sampling was used to select the 10 participants who have participated in PLC during the current school year for this study. Babbie (2017) defined purposive sampling as a type of nonprobability sampling. The participants being observed were selected based on the researcher's judgment about which participants were most useful or representative based on the phenomena being studied. Purposive sampling allowed the researcher to use various research designs and ensure all participants are selected based on their ability to contribute relevant understanding to the study. The criterion sampling was employed to ensure participants are all early childhood teachers who were engaged in PLC during the current school year. The criteria for interview participants will include (a) willing to participate in a one-on-one interview, (b) engaged in PLC during the current school year, (c) teacher on record for student's pre-

kindergarten through third grade, and (d) certified early childhood educator in the identified school.

Based on the stated criteria, all potential participants were identified using the school's principal's school staff and faculty list. Each potential participant was contacted through e-mail. The initial contact through e-mail detailed the study's purpose and goal, what the study involves, expectations as a participant, estimated time involved as a participant, and the ethical safeguards implemented with fidelity. An Informed Consent form (Appendix B) was attached to the e-mails of participants.

The quality assurance practice was implemented to ensure all participants meet the selection criteria before any participants are confirmed or any interviews. The school website, staff, and faculty school list and confirmation from the school principal were used to ensure all participants meet the stated criteria. Additionally, at the beginning of each interview, participants were asked to verify that they meet the stated criteria.

Instrumentation (Qualitative)

The data collection instrument was used as an interview protocol followed in conducting semi-structured interviews with all participants. According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), semi-structured interviews were used when the researcher has a specific topic to learn about, has prepared a limited number of questions, and has planned to ask the participants' follow-up questions when applicable. The semi-structured interview questions (Appendix A) intentionally focused on the planned questions that speak to the research question. The researcher used the interview questions to understand better early childhood teachers' perceptions of effective collaborative practices with early childhood teachers' PLC. Additionally, the follow-up questions were added to seek further depth,

and detail of the phenomenon studied—appropriate probes used if necessary to keep the dialogue going while clarifying ambiguities shared during the semi-structured interviews. Babbie (2017) described a probe as a technique employed by an interviewer to solicit a complete answer to a question or encourage an interviewee to elaborate.

The researcher's interview questions were designed to explore how PLC nurtured teacher leadership, supported a shared vision for teaching and learning, influenced collaborative learning, and explored teachers' perceptions of sharing their instructional practices with colleagues through the PLC process. Rubin and Rubin (2012) described qualitative interviewing as a way for researchers to see phenomena that are not ordinarily on view and examine phenomena that are often looked at but seldom seen.

Correspondingly, Babbie (2017) discussed that qualitative interviews' strength lies in the depth of understanding it permits with examining social processes. Nine main questions, four follow-up questions, and two probes have been prepared for each semi-structured/ interview. The questions and probes were developed based on the five identified PLC dimensions of effective collaborative practices based on the conceptual framework. The questions and probes are also aligned with the studies of five researcher questions.

The interview's initial phase began with sharing an introduction of the study with the interviewee and asking any questions before the researcher began the interview process. The researcher responded to any questions the interviewee has and communicate again that a recording device recorded the responses. Interviewees were informed that the recording was transcribed and then coded for data analysis. Interviewees were informed that the transcribed data were shared with them for review and feedback before coding.

Once interviewees have provided their approval and confirmation of their interview transcript, a three-column coding process begun.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection (for students collecting their own data)

The recruitment procedures for this study were guided by Walden University's IRB once approved. Since the superintendent initiated PLC for the entire district and felt this study might provide implications for improving PLC, the superintendent selected the school with the principal's approval. The principal provided the faculty and staff list, which were used to identify all early childhood teachers who meet the study's criteria—ten to twelve teachers that meet the criteria recruited. The participants were informed that there was no incentive or compensation for participating in the research study.

For recruitment at the school level, the researcher provided a Letter of Cooperation (Appendix C) to document and seek approval from the school superintendent to conduct the school site study. Once approval is received, the researcher will also use an on-line publicly available faculty and staff list to identify and then contact each potential teacher individually by e-mail to solicit their participation in the study. The initial solicitation e-mail included an introduction about the researcher, a detailed purpose and goal of the study, what the study involved, expectations as a participant, estimated time involved as a participant, and the ethical safeguards that will be implemented with fidelity. Once a teacher communicates their willingness to participate in the study. The researcher provided the study participants with the Informed Consent form by e-mail, including name, e-mail address, and telephone number. The follow-up e-mail containing the consent form will also include a statement sharing. They

contacted the researcher by e-mail, phone, or text to further discuss the study, request additional information, or ask additional questions. Additionally, the follow-up e-mails included a request for their contact information for any follow-up communication that may be necessary.

Upon returning the consent form, the researcher contacted the participants by phone or e-mail to schedule a one-time face-to-face private interview at the school in a location and at a time that is comfortable and convenient for the teacher. The interview may be held in the school conference room, the teacher's office space, or their classroom. At the beginning of each interview, participants were provided with an introduction to the study. They were allowing asking any questions they may have regarding the study. Participants were also be informed they may end their participation in the study at any time, even though they have signed the consent form.

The interviews lasted for approximately 40 to 50 minutes were recorded using an independent recording device for confidentiality and security purposes. The recordings were stored on the device and can only be accessible by the researcher. If feasible, written notes of participant's responses were documented during the interviews. However, the recording device was the primary source for documenting responses to ensure appropriate attention was provided to asking the questions and purposefully listening to each participant. Once each audio recording is complete, information was transferred to a computer with security access. The audio recording, interview notes, transcripts, and coding were stored on a password-protected computer. The researcher was the only user of the recording and electronic devices. The password for the personal computer was shared or known to anyone other than the researcher. If a participant

presented barriers to a face-to-face interview, they were being offered the option to conduct a telephone interview instead. The telephone interview was recorded using the speakerphone option to ensure all audio was accurately recorded to transcribe and code the data. The transcripts and coding of phone interviews were also be stored securely on a password-protected personal computer.

Once each interview has ended, participants were thankful for their time and asked if they have any additional questions. Once each interview was transcribed, each participant was asked to verify the transcription's accuracy. Upon each participant's approval, a verification of the transcript and a debriefing session was held to exit the study's participant to secure a private location. There should be no need for follow-up interviews to plan the main interview questions, follow-up questions, probes, the recording device, verification of transcription by participants, and the debriefing session.

The debriefing session asked the participants if they have any additional questions about the study and if they have any feedback that may improve their experience as participants in the study. This debriefing session also represented a form of follow-up with each participant to gain valuable, actionable insights that may support future qualitative research.

Data Analysis Plan

The research question explores the participants' perceptions of effective collaborative practices with early childhood teachers' PLC was based on the five dimensions within the conceptual framework. The qualitative data gathered from the semi-structured interviews were analyzed to answer the studies' research question. Transcripts of the semi-structured interviews were analyzed using Microsoft Word documents and Excel spreadsheets to code and identify themes. Additionally, the coding was used to identify themes and new themes that may emerge and were aligned to the five dimensions and the research question. Creswell (2009) recommended that codes should emerge during the data analysis process.

Data saturation reached using Creswell's (2009) recommendation for analyzing qualitative data. Furthermore, Fusch and Ness (2015) revealed that data saturation could be attained with a minimum of six interviews when a researcher was focused on the major themes within the data rather than the quantity of data. The researcher will begin the initial phase of analyzing the data by transcribing all interviews from the recording application into a Microsoft Word document. Once transcribed, the researcher shared the transcription with the individual participant for their approval. Upon the participant's approval, the open coding data analysis process was begun. According to Saldana (2016), open coding is a first cycle coding method and a structure that allows reflection to occur for the researcher. Similarly, Merriam (2009) described open coding as a process of making notes in the margins of your line-by-line transcription.

To analyze the phenomenon thoroughly, Creswell's (2009) six-step data analysis process for this study included transcribing the data first and then reviewing the data for

reflection purposes. Next, the data were split into individually coded segments, then categories. Finally, the categories were labeled as a part of the first cycle coding process. Followed by a coding process of discoveries or themes learned from the participants, their processes, or the phenomenon. Next, the themes evolved into a qualitative narrative that articulates the findings from the semi-structured interviews with all the participants. Finally, the researcher exercised strategic exploration and reflection strategies to interpret and make meaning to the research question. The participants' discrepant cases through the semi-structured interview data and coding were acknowledged in the data. Lastly, discrepant cases in this qualitative study were beneficial to the overall findings, even though they only represent a few participants. The discrepant cases were viewed as valuable data and may lead to data recording or a more in-depth analysis and understanding of the phenomenon.

Trustworthiness (Qualitative and Mixed Methods)

Credibility

Babbie (2017) noted that internal invalidity accounts for only some of the challenges researchers face while conducting qualitative research and presenting their findings. Hence, establishing credibility is a critical part of the research design.

According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), a qualitative researcher attempts to establish credibility by implementing the validity strategies of triangulation, member checking, presenting a thick description, discussing negative cases, specific observation periods or interviews, and having an external auditor.

According to Rubin and Rubin (2012), a significant strength of qualitative interviewing is that it produces highly credible results. In qualitative research, credibility and trustworthiness are synonymous, Connelly (2016); therefore, trustworthiness is critically essential to this research study. The researcher established credibility by triangulating the interview data that is coded. Triangulation is defined in social research as the ability to corroborate the data. The researcher also demonstrated credibility by triangulating the data through coding as similar themes and codes emerge within the evidence. The researcher achieved credibility by interviewing participants who are knowledgeable about the research problem.

Additionally, credibility was established through member checks to establish the accuracy of the answers provided during the interview process and each participant's transcripts. A quality review was conducted through the peer review process so that a colleague may confirm that the coding process was conducted thoroughly and transparently. The peer reviews were conducted to provide internal validity to the design of the study. Since it was essential for the researcher to consistently reflect upon the data, reflexivity was established through journaling to chronicle the research experience with personal bias. The researcher also journals about the interviews, participants, and the coding and analysis process. Through these design processes, the researcher intended to conduct a study that eliminates any intentional threats to its credibility.

Transferability

Babbie (2017) explained that when a study's results can be generalized beyond the sample study to a different population, external validity was established. According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), qualitative research aims to develop descriptive, context-

relevant statements. External validity was ensured by obtaining in-depth and substantial details from the participants. Therefore, the details from this study will exhibit transferability to a broader context while maintaining context-specific richness. The rich details and thick descriptions will allow readers of the study to generalize the findings to their population or situation. By establishing the studies' design, journaling, comprehensive interview notes, coding, transcripts, member checks, and the data analysis, transferability was established. Additionally, the methodology and data analysis provided information about the fieldwork so readers can generalize the findings to other teachers, schools, or PLC.

Dependability

Dependability in qualitative research was comparable to reliability in quantitative research (Shenton, 2004). Dependability simply refers to the stability of the data (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Correspondingly, Babbie (2017) defined reliability as the quality of measurement methods that suggested that the same data would be collected each time in repeated observations investigating the same phenomenon. For this study, dependability was obtained by checking and triangulating the data through the coding process. These two member checking and triangulation methods and offering a rationale for these choices were confirmed that the researcher appropriate study design based on the research question. To further establish this study's dependability, audit trails were conducted to provide documentary evidence of recorded interviews, the sequence of data collection methods, and data analysis procedures.

Confirmability

Objectivity within a study refers to the studies confirmability (Shenton, 2004). Furthermore, confirmability is the degree to which the study would yield the same findings if investigated using the same methodology. Therefore, confirmability within a study would not present evidence of bias, emotions, or imagination. To ensure confirmability, the researcher documented the study's methodology, data analysis procedures, and findings. Since credibility is essential to a study, the researcher engaged in reflexivity by being transparent about the values, personal biases, and PLC position. This transparency, reflexivity, and objectivity process allowed other researchers to replicate the study.

Ethical Procedures

There are essential ethical procedures that must be addressed and adhered to when conducting qualitative research. The IRB must first provide the approval to proceed with the study. The researcher submitted copies of the solicitation communication, consent form, and prospectus/proposal to provide their approval. According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), the IRB was an essential safeguard for participants and accountability throughout the research process. Additionally, the IRB is responsible for reviewing research proposals and overseeing ongoing research projects. The IRB's oversight ensured the diligent and ethical researcher who ensures confidentiality, anonymity, and transparency.

The researcher obtained all required approvals from the district's superintendent, identified the school's principal, and all participants to address all ethical codes and conduct an ethical study. The IRB application was submitted and approved before proceeding with the data collection method. Also, the Letter of Cooperation from the superintendent was submitted, which provided approval to recruit participants. The

researcher finally obtained participant consent forms. The consent form entails participants agreeing to the research before it begins. Ravitch and Carl (2016) suggested that a consent form should include an overview of the research goals, a statement about the voluntary nature of the study, a list of requirements as a participant, details allowing participants to withdrawal from the study at any time, and a statement about the confidentiality of the data. These ethical processes informed actions; however, the researcher's communication and behaviors were determined ethical for the study.

Ravitch and Carl (2016) described the relational approach to qualitative research as being open to changing opinions, and the research approach as the data emerges throughout the research process. Through being reflexively engaged with participants, the researcher learned from participants who may have different perceptions, experiences, and realities about PLC. During the interview process, the interviewee and the interviewer were seen as equals throughout the study to avoid power issues. The researcher always had participants' welfare in mind and did not harm them in any way.

The data from the research addressed through ethical processes. Participants will be assigned a number and will never be identified by name. The audio recording, interview notes, transcripts, and coding was stored on personal password-protected electronic devices. The researcher was the only user of the devices, and the password was not shared with other individuals. Additionally, all data of any kind related to the study will be kept secure at all times and destroyed through electronic deletion at the appropriate time.

Summary

In this chapter, the researcher described the study's methodology by including the research design and rationale, the researcher's role, and participant selection. The researcher also described instrumentation followed by procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection. This chapter also includes the data analysis plan, how the researcher ensured trustworthiness, and how the researcher addressed ethical procedures guided by the IRB.

Chapter 4: Results

The findings and analysis as a result of interviewing the research participants are presented in this chapter. This research study was designed to examine early childhood teachers' perceptions of PLC in relation to their understanding of how PLC nurture teacher leadership; school leaders support PLC; members within the PLC share authority and decision-making; PLC supports a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues; stakeholders actively involved in developing and implementing the school's shared vision, and value; collaborative learning that occurs as a result of your PLC; team members within your PLC work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies, and then apply the new learning to their classroom; PLC supports the sharing of instructional practices with other colleagues; supportive conditions that exists because of your PLC; and factors that foster a professional learning community.

In order for the researcher to gather the necessary data for this research study, the researcher interviewed the study participants via telephone. A total of ten early childhood teachers were interviewed for this qualitative research study. The researcher gathered the data for this research study over ten days in June 2020. All the teachers interviewed for the researcher's study were employed at one Title 1 elementary school implementing PLC for at least three years. The researcher used Creswell's (2009) and Esterberg's (2002) procedures to analyze and code the recorded interview data. Esterberg (2002) stated that qualitative data (i.e., interview data) should be analyzed line by line to identify themes and categories of interest. Creswell (2009) added that researchers should look for codes to emerge during the data analysis process. After thoroughly reviewing the data

through the open coding process, the researcher analyzed the data for emerging themes. The six steps of Creswell (2009) method were used to analyze the data in this study.

Participants were identified using alphanumeric codes for the interview process and for the research study to maintain confidentiality. Discrepancies were evident with one participant who did not feel professional learning communities existed at the school as it should with building leaders and that teachers did not share to enhance teacher learning. Although this data was an outlier, this may add insight to the overall understanding of the phenomenon. Therefore, a qualitative case study was conducted for the purpose of better understanding prekindergarten through third grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. I used a basic qualitative approach to answer the primary research question:

RQ1: What are early childhood teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices?

I will first describe in Chapter 4 the setting where the study was conducted. Next, I will describe how the data was collected. A thorough description of how the data was collected will be followed by how the data was analyzed through the use of coding. Then, a detailed description will be provided of the study's results. Finally, the chapter will conclude with the studies evidence of trustworthiness.

Setting

The setting for this study was a Title I elementary school in a southeastern school district in the United States of America. The school district where the study was conducted has had their state education agency assume governance twice in the last 10

years. Also, the rural elementary school identified in this district is comprised of prekindergarten through second grade students and offers a 9 month or one hundred eighty days of instruction for their students. The student poverty rate is 94%, the attendance rate is 92%, students with disabilities is 7%, and the number of students retained is less than 1%. Additionally, the number of teachers at the school with advanced degrees is 60%, teachers with continuing contracts is 52%, the attendance rate for teachers is 95%, and teachers receive 7 full days of required professional development and teacher in-service days each year which is when students are not in the building. Finally, the per pupil expenditure was \$12,849 for the 2018-2019 school year at the identified school.

This elementary school is comprised of 24 certified teachers. The student engagement section of the 2018-2019 school report card noted that 82.3% of teachers reported that they were satisfied with the social and physical learning environment. The teachers also responded to the 2018-2019 classroom environment section of the school report conveying 85% have been a teacher at the school for more than three years, 14.3% have one year of teaching experience, and 0% are teaching out-of-field. Furthermore, this rural Title I elementary school has teachers who promote academic achievement, strive to increase their professional capacity, endeavor to improve student outcomes, and are committed to providing quality instruction to their students according to their school's website.

Summary Statistics of Interviewees

A total of 10 elementary teachers were interviewed regarding professional learning communities at their school. Reported in Table 1 are the characteristics of study participants. Females accounted for 90.0% and males accounted for 10% of the study participants. The majority of the study participants (70.0%) categorized themselves as African American or Blacks and (30.0%) as white. The age of participants ranged from 21 to 50 years. Most of the participants were in the age of range between 30 and 39.

Shown in Table 2 are the number and percentage of the study participants based on selected school characteristics. All of the study participants attended elementary schools (100.0%).

Table 1Research Participant Demographics

	Number of	Percentage of
Variables	Interviewees	Interviewees
Gender		
Female	9	90.0%
Male	1	10.0%
Racial Ethnicity		
Black	7	70.0%
White	3	30.0%
Age Range		
21 - 29	3	30.0%
30 - 39	5	50.0%
40 - 49	1	10.0%
50 or older	1	10.0%

Table 2Selected Professional Characteristics About the Interview Participants

	Number of	Percentage of
Characteristics	Interviewees	Interviewees
Grade Level		
PreK	3	30.0%
K	3	30.0%
1 st	2	20.0%
$2^{\rm nd}$	2	20.0%
Years of Teaching		
Less than 5 years	1	10.0%
5 – 9 years	2	20.0%
10 – 15 year	3	30.0%
16 – 20 years	0	0%
19 – 25 year	1	10.0%
More than 25 years	3	30.0%
Years Teaching at Current School		
Less than 4 years	6	60.0%
4 – 9 years	3	30.0%
10 – 15 years	0	0%
More than 15 years	1	10.0%
Highest Educational Attainment		
Bachelor	4	40.0%
Masters	4	40.0%
Educational Specialist	2	20.0%
Doctorate	0	0%

Data Collection

For this basic qualitative study, I received approval from Walden University's IRB (# is 06-09-20-0728890). The formal approval was received by e-mail before sending research study invitations to recruit participants and conducting qualitative interviews to gather data. Recruitment occurred by receiving approval from the district

superintendent. Once I received approval from the superintendent, the superintendent then identified the school where the research study would take place. Once the school was identified, the superintendent placed me in contact with the school's principal. Then the school principal provided me with the contact information for the early childhood teachers. I then contacted each teacher individually by sending them a research invitation by e-mail along with the consent form. The invitation and consent form communicated to those who were interested in participating in the study to reply to the e-mail by typing "I Consent". The consent form provided additional background information about the study, research procedures, sample interview questions, the voluntary nature of the study, the benefits, and most important the confidentially that would be provided as a result of their participation in the study. When participants expressed their consent to participate in the study, I scheduled a telephone interview.

A total of 10 early childhood teachers voluntarily participated in qualitative interviews. The interviewing of participants took 17 days, beginning Friday, June 10, 2020, through Monday, June 27, 2020. Ten early childhood teachers participated in the interviews for this study. The superintendent and the school principal were contacted for permission to conduct the study. The superintendent signed a Letter of Cooperation. After receiving permission from the district and school and Walden's Institutional Review Board approval (IRB#), I sent the teachers an individual e-mail to solicit their participation in the study. The initial solicitation e-mail included an introduction of the researcher, a detailed purpose and goal of the study, what the study involves, expectations as a participant, estimated time involved as a participant, and the ethical safeguards implemented with fidelity. Ten teachers returned the signed consent form indicating their

interest and approval in participating in the study. Upon receiving the signed consent form, I contacted each teacher individually to schedule an interview at a mutually agreed upon date and time for the teacher and myself.

Of the 10 early childhood teachers who consented to participating in the study, 2 were national board certified teachers. The group of interview participants included 9 females and 1 male and 7 African American and 3 white teachers, resulting in a sample that is not as diverse as it relates to race or ethnicity (see Table 1).

One-on-one semi-structured interviews were conducted in less than three weeks. The interviews with each research participant ranged in length from 38 to 73 minutes. An interview protocol was used to ensure that interviews were consistent (see Appendix C). Interview data was recorded using the Otter voice recording application and limited notes were taken during the interview because I wanted to focus on the questions and intently listen to the interviewee. Recordings and notes were transcribed immediately following each interview, allowing me to acquire an initial sense of the data gathered, reflect on the interview process as well as closely analyze the data provided.

Data Analysis

The primary research question was answered by thoroughly analyzing the transcripts multiple times and using open coding with thematic analysis. Data gathered from the interviews is being kept secure and confidential on my personal home computer which is password protected. Also, the interview recordings are being stored on the Otter web-based video recording platform which is also secure and confidential with my unique username and password for protection. Creswell's (2009) and Esterberg's (2002) procedures for data analysis and coding were followed as I transitioned from one coding

cycle to the next cycle. Esterberg suggested that qualitative data should be analyzed line by line and fragment by fragment to identify themes and categories that emerge. Creswell posited that researchers should thoroughly analyze the data through the coding cycles and look for codes and themes to emerge during the iterative process. As I systematically analyzed the data, emerging themes became evident using the open coding process. I was able to collapse and expand certain codes and the patterns, frequency, and similarities presented in the coding after a thorough review caused the themes to develop through the iterative process.

To analyze the data gathered, I used Creswell's (2009) suggested phases to analyze the recorded interview data for my study. Immediately after each interview I listened to the interview recording several times to allow myself to reflect on the participants responses. While listening to the recorded interviews for reflection purposes only, I took personal notes about what thoughts and ideas were emerging. This process of note taking and reflection allowed me to track my thoughts and record my personal comments. After listening to the interview responses for reflection only, the next few times I listened to the interviews to transcribe the recording in writing for accuracy. After an individual interview was transcribed, I carefully read the transcription and reviewed my initial handwritten reflections. Next, I began a detailed review and analysis using my first and second coding process of organizing the data into fragments and then into categories, and labeling the categories with words that were used by the research participants.

Next, all of the transcripts were reviewed several times to process the information and record additional comments, similarities, differences, and data frequency presented

by research participants. The emerging codes were then organized according to the relationships with one another, which presented emerging themes. These themes were assigned based on labeling the categories with verbiage that was used by research participants. One theme that emerged was professional development, which comprised ways in which the research participants believed certain factors or circumstances would qualify a professional development session as beneficial for their professional growth. This generalized theme was then collapsed into smaller subthemes based on the responses of the participants.

The next phase of the coding process involved a continuation of the iterative process of cross-checking themes with what was transcribed from the semi-formal interviews. Lastly, the researcher interpreted the meaning of the coded data. Throughout this final phase of the coding, the researcher focused intently on meaning the participant's perceptions of their experiences with the early childhood professional learning communities. Acknowledgments were noted of discrepant cases by including participant responses and experiences that did not emerge as themes. While two participants presented discrepant responses, these responses can be insightful when adding a complete description of the phenomenon. These two participants' responses were not discrepant for all ten research questions. For example, the question, "How do school leaders support professional learning communities?" the interviewee responded with, "I know we are in a lot of meetings." This participant's response was not similar to other interviewees regarding this question. Another example was that participants were asked to "Describe how your professional learning community supports a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues." The interview responded by saying, "Our grade level is very

supportive of one another. We help each other out when we need to." Another example, participants were asked, "How are all stakeholders actively involved in developing and implementing the school's shared vision and value?" One of the interviewees responded by saying: "They hold community meetings once a month and people get to speak in private sessions." When the study participants did not respond appropriately to how the question was asked, the researcher did not solicit another response from the participants. Once the questions were asked, the responses were recorded and reported vibration for the researcher's research study.

In analyzing the participants' interview transcripts, the frequency of several patterns and similarities emerged within the data. The resulting key themes were identified from participants' responses to the interview questions.

- Collaboration allows teachers to improve instructional strategies
- Several support structures exist through professional learning communities

Theme 1: Collaboration Allows Teachers to Improve Instructional Strategies

The time and opportunity to collaborate with other teachers was a recurring theme throughout the data analysis and coding process. Participants expressed collaboration helps them support their students better, helps them improve their instructional delivery, affords them the opportunity to share and learn as well as fosters and promotes a professional learning community. Participants shared the following perceptions: Participant 10 expressed that,

Our professional learning community nurtures teacher leadership because we are allowed to teach and learn from other teachers based on our need.

Teachers teach in each other's classrooms to help teachers accomplish a teaching

strategy. A professional learning community is good when teachers work together and help each other. We are always helping each other to become better teachers. Almost every time we are together, we are learning from each other how to be a better teacher.

In reference to how collaboration allows teachers to improve, Participant 6 stated,

Teachers share cross-curricular information talking about how mathematics strategies look and sound in other classrooms, like music or art classrooms, and preparing students for the state test.

Participant 5 explained a process used during collaboration for teachers to improve through their professional learning community. P5 shared,

Members within the PLC share authority and decision-making by getting suggestions from all teachers and trying new teaching strategies presented by teachers. The group will facilitate the ideas of a teacher to determine what may or may not work in the classroom.

Participant 9 echoed the statements of the benefits of teacher collaboration and commented that,

The teachers also learn about resources, materials, and technology that we can use in the classroom. Teachers learned a lot from each other. Collaboration is a crucial part of fostering the development of a professional learning community.

Theme 2: Support Structures Exist through Professional Learning Communities

Overall the participants in the research study believed that numerous support structures exist in their professional learning community which influenced the

learning of teachers. They also agreed that the district office strongly supports professional learning communities and because of the district office support, state level support is provided. Collectively, the participants agree that several support structures exist and are a benefit to their professional growth and professional learning community structure. Participant 9 stated that,

School leaders support professional learning communities by having regular professional development and by communicating with staff and providing feedback to all teachers.

Participant 7 echoed similar sentiments regarding various support structures by sharing,

Grade level support was paramount because of the expertise of teachers at the same grade-levels within professional learning communities. Teachers encourage each other and support each other, and they all give each other a chance to solve a problem during our meetings. School leaders also support professional learning communities by ensuring that the necessary resources are available for the professional learning communities.

According to Participant 1 teachers supported each other more because of professional learning communities. Participant 1 stated,

Teachers received more support from building and district-level administrators because of professional learning communities.

Participant 3 expressed that,

Teachers involved in professional learning communities get together and show each other how to use different computer programs.

Participant 8 communicated that,

The state department of education's staff also provide teachers the opportunity to visit other schools and classrooms outside their schools to view other lessons and practices at other professional learning communities. Participant 8 also shared that another support condition that existed in the professional learning community was the relationship bonding of colleagues. Their school used data to set goals during professional learning communities to support their shared vision among their teachers at the various grade levels.

Participant 4 shared that,

Teachers used Zoom meetings and emails to support each other in professional learning communities.

According to P6,

Teachers developed a resource notebook to support each in the professional learning community.

Results

Interview Questions

1. Development of Teachers

IQ 1: Describe ways in which the professional learning community nurtures teacher leadership.

The information gathered via the interviews regarding professional learning communities nurturing of teacher leadership appears to have some similarities among the individuals interviewed. Many of the study participants agreed that to improve teacher leadership, schools would need to develop a support system to improve teachers' confidence. Participants also agreed that collaboration and teamwork among teachers could contribute to the leadership process. P10 stated that "Our professional learning community nurtures teacher leadership because we are allowed to teach and learn from other teachers based on our need. The principal allows us to lead our PLC. We are able to attend professional learning conferences that interest us." (See Appendix A).

Having grade level chairs to work with teachers involved in professional learning communities by sharing information obtained from conferences and workshops was unanimously expressed by participants. P8 stated that "Our professional learning committee tends to look at the grade level chairs for leadership. So, it depends on each grade level. My grade level is very supportive and backs the grade level chair, and we kind of help look out for each other and make sure that everyone's getting the materials" (See Appendix A). It is important to note that P5 disagreed with the other participants in

the study. P5 stated "I do not think that it does" (See Appendix A). Interviewee P5 felt that the professional learning community did not nurture teacher leadership.

IQ2: Support for Professional Learning Communities

IQ2: How do school leaders support professional learning communities?

The data showed that school leaders supported professional learning communities in various formats such as classroom observations, professional development workshops, shared lesson plan meetings, conferences, webinars, and administrators' participation in meetings. Most of the participants agreed that school leaders (i.e., district and building level) supported professional learning communities by attending and participating in meetings regarding professional learning communities.

Another way in which school leaders supported professional learning communities was by participating in professional development training. P8 stated during the training sessions, teachers talk to the school leaders regarding the assistance they need for their schools. P9 also echoed the sentiments of P8. Stating that school leaders "support professional learning communities by having regular professional development and by communicating with staff and providing feedback to all teachers (P9)."

School leaders also supported professional learning communities by the development of a monthly calendar. According to P7, teachers received a calendar each month informing them of the various events that will occur in that month. School leaders also support professional learning communities by ensuring that necessary resources are available for the professional learning communities. They also agreed that the district office strongly supported professional learning communities.

IQ3: Shared Authority and Decision-Making

IQ3. Describe how all members within the PLC share authority and decision-making.

When examining how all members within the professional learning community share authority and decision-making, it appears that most of it is done at group meetings by grade level chairs. P1 indicated that their school comes together as a group once a week to review the mission statement and share ideas about things that worked or did not work. Each teacher is given a chance to lead in the decision-making process. In P2's PLC, grade level chairs share authority by allowing teachers to volunteer or delegate responsibilities to the teachers to be a part of the decision-making process. This grade level PLC also used timekeepers, recorders, and facilitators to manage consistent meetings with their colleagues. The information from those meetings was shared with others via email with those who attended or did not attend various meetings. As stated by P9, during "...grade-level meetings, all teachers' ideas and opinions are valued. Responsibility is shared among the group of teachers."

P5 stated that members within the PLC share authority and decision-making by getting suggestions from all teachers and trying new teaching strategies presented by teachers. The group will facilitate the ideas of a teacher to determine what may or may not work in the classroom. Decisions are made collectively by the teachers at their grade level. P6 expressed, "From the grade level the decision is made, then we take it to the school leadership team. We take all the concerns or the agreements to the leadership team, and then from there, we make a decision. So, everyone will be able to have input."

P7 reported that teachers encourage each other and support each other, and they all give each other a chance to solve a problem during our meetings. Communication with each other allows each individual to voice their opinions about the issue presented in

the PLCs, according to P8. P10 said that teachers have specific roles and responsibilities in the meetings. However, teachers do share the leadership roles for PLC meetings. They worked together in the decision-making process at the building and district levels when developing the agenda for meetings.

IQ4. Supports for Shared Vision for Teaching and Learning

IQ4. Describe how your professional learning community supports a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues.

The data showed that professional learning communities support the need for a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues. P1 stated that their school "... always have visions for what we need to do, we try to set good values and goals. We develop clear student-centered objectives." P2 talked about their school vertical articulation meetings. At their school, there were grade-level meetings involving faculty and staff, and at every meeting, the school's mission statement is read because it reminds them of what they need to do regarding setting ethical values and goals.

P2's responses were very similar to P1's responses regarding research question 4.

P2 stated that their school also has vertical articulation meetings. The entire school meets first and breaks out in small group meetings to remind teachers about the vision of their school. This school also read the mission during each meeting. Also, at the school meetings, teachers develop goals and objectives and objectives for students.

At the school P4, teachers are encouraged to provide input and share how they feel about the topic or subject being discussed. One school had the motto of "Helping teachers that needs help" (P4) - using best practices from teachers within the learning community as well as at schools outside the learning community. Focusing on the

strength and weaknesses of our students will make a difference in their academic achievement. This school worked together to improve instructions in the classrooms and interventions by working on pull-outs.

P8 stated that their school used data to set goals to support their shared vision among their teachers at the various grade levels. According to P9, their school, "... set goals and so forth, so our shared vision is based on what is needed as a grade level, and what is needed, individually and holistically by our classes, and our students." P10's PLC used lots of the same teaching strategies and techniques to ensure their students are learning. These teachers teach in each other classrooms to help teachers accomplish a teaching strategy.

IQ5. Stakeholder Involvement in Shared Vision and Value

IQ5. How are all stakeholders actively involved in developing and implementing the school's shared vision and value?

The data showed that stakeholders are actively involved in developing and implementing the school's shared vision and values by working with teachers, principals, and outside stakeholders such as parents, nurses, and dentists. Pl defined their school as a Parent Community school because their school has connections with the community.

P2 stated that their school used a phone blast to all of the parents to keep them informed and solicit their support for our school. Back to school events for parents and the community was a useful method of communication between the two groups. P2 also stated that "... individual teachers reach out through newsletters and phone conversations. Some grade level PLC also used Parent Teacher Organizations to share their school vision and values with parents. Schools used their School Improvement

Council as a vehicle for communicating their shared vision with the community and stakeholders. P2 also shared that they developed a reading group inside the school and get the staff involved - everybody involved in our school.

P4 indicated that they had community meetings with guest speakers in private sessions. They also held monthly meetings with parents and board members. All stakeholders are invited to attend the meetings in order to get them involved in the schools' shared vision and values. However, P10 stated that "... we try to find ways to involve the stakeholders." Schools revised their vision and goals throughout the year with teachers, students, administrators, parents, community, and stakeholders. The Parent Teacher Organization and other community meetings were how the school also communicates their goals and visions with parents and stakeholders. Parents volunteering in the school played a vital role in assisting schools in communicating their goals and vision with parents and stakeholders. Learning about the school's shared vision and values occurred when guests visited the school to attend or conduct workshops. P5's PLC had a panel of men that came and spoke with 5 to 8-year-old boys to help them get the message out about the school's shared vision. The school used business owners and leadership luncheons to get the school's shared vision out to the community.

P7 firmly stated that their school and district are aware of what is happening in their grade level team. The district is actively involved in the development and implementation of the school's shared vision and values. The superintendent is always in the sessions to ensure that stakeholders are actively involved in the development and implementation of the school's shared vision and values. The Social Outreach Program keeps the communication with parents and stakeholders weekly following up through

newsletters, phone calls, and communication blast outs. One team held community meetings with various activities to encourage communication and collaboration with stakeholders and the communities (i.e., business places, churches, outreach groups). One team also has students communicate with community leaders and have the community leaders serve mentors at our schools which is tremendously helpful in bridging the gap between the school, stakeholders, and the community, according to P8.

IQ6: Collaborative Learning

IQ 6. Describe any collaborative learning that occurs as a result of your professional learning community.

Based on the data presented by study participants, collaborative learning occurred as a result of professional learning communities with teachers collaborating by sharing new learning techniques and sharing those newly learned teaching strategies and practices with other teachers at various grade levels. Participant 3 could not state a better reason for sharing information "...always sharing ideas in our classroom to help students improve their knowledge".

The study participants also stated that the professional learning community taught them about the standards and how the standards should be used at the various grade levels. Study participants believed that collaborative learning was needed for grade-level planning for all grade levels regardless of standards. Teacher P4 said that their school does "What students need to know to go no to the next grade level and what they will be taught at the next grade level according to the standards."

Participants discussed the usage of research ideas based on teaching strategies and shared them with teachers during professional learning communities. Teachers shared

things such as collaborative learning about classroom management, intervention within the classroom as well as pullouts; learning how to use data and how to apply new teaching practices based on the data; doing "... vertical articulation to discuss the strengths of our students...," (P6) sharing cross-curricular information talking about how mathematic strategies look and sound in other classrooms, like music and art classrooms, and preparing students for the state test. Participants 7 stated that "lots of time working with the writing component of the state testing during a professional learning community."

Participants also discussed the usage of LLI during the professional learning communities regarding collaboration. Participants stated that LLI was used to group students who are on the same level working with those various strategies, for example, reading. According to P9, LLI groups were created to focus "... on the development and improvement of students reading" during the collaboration process. Teachers used research-based strategies; they learn about new professional learning opportunities from each other. The teachers also learn about resources, materials, and technology that we can use in the classroom. Teachers learned a lot from each other. In summary, P10 stated that "We are always helping each other to become better teachers. Almost every time we are together, we are learning from each other how to be a better teacher".

IQ7. Knowledge and Instructional Strategies for Classrooms

IQ 7: How do team members within your professional learning community work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies and then apply them to your classroom?

The data showed that team members within the professional learning community work together in various ways to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies and applying them to classrooms. One of the primary ways is through workshops.

"Workshops on campus and off-campus with new instructional strategies" (P1) as well as field trips together as a team. Workshops at each grade level and grade-level meetings were used to nurture teacher leadership.

The usage of school meetings also was a primary way for team members within the professional learning community to work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies for classrooms. According to P3, school meetings were used to share what teachers learned and discuss the things that went well and things that did not work well in classes. At the meeting, teachers are to implement new things and have the chance to practice in their classrooms. Also, at the meetings, teachers have time to bounce ideas off of each other (i.e., what worked and what needed to be tweaked). Teachers talked about how distance learning via webinars was to assist teachers with understanding innovative strategies for the classrooms.

Another primary way to was through conferences. Conferences were used by PLC to share what teachers have learned and how it may be used in the classroom. P5 stated that their grade level team goes out of the state to attend conferences and professional workshops to obtain new teaching strategies and techniques. When a teacher attends a conference or workshop, according to P5, they usually come back and present the new teaching strategies and techniques to other teachers, grade-level leaders, and administrators. Once the information is presented to other teachers, they are encouraged to implement the teaching strategy and explain the benefits of the new strategy. All

teachers are encouraged to go and try what works, or what they think will work for them and their classes.

Another team development technique was to start small and go large. P7 stated that their school "... try to take small steps, so we are not doing too much at one time" by doing one thing at a time. A timeframe is given to teachers to let them know when the leader teacher will come and see how they have implemented a specific new strategy that they choose in their classroom. The teachers are observed and given feedback on the areas where they were the strongest. They also give feedback about how they can improve their instructions for their classes.

Another primary way to nurture teachers is through in-service and preservice training. P8 stated that teachers discussed things in the classroom and what they learned from personal experiences in the classrooms and how to apply teaching strategies in the classroom. P8 also stated that were provided feedback about what worked or did not work in the classrooms for new and veteran teachers. The school used different teachers to serve as the lead teacher to present professional development courses at different times of the school year. They also had teachers taking the Read to Succeed course to improve their knowledge and teaching strategies for their reading classes.

Another primary way for team members within professional learning communities to work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies and apply them to their classroom is to get together and analyze test data and anecdotal information for each child weekly. When strategies are suggested, teachers examine the pros and cons and use it if it is practical or beneficial to the students.

Another primary way to was to teach a lesson together, do activities together, watch each other teach a lesson in order to improve the lesson. P10 stated that they give each other feedback about their teaching strategies. Teachers give each other feedback after teachers have observed each other teach a lesson in the classroom. Team members in professional learning communities also worked together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies for classrooms based on the data from their classes. PLC also had teachers to work on advanced degrees in their area of specialization. The PLC teams believed that advanced education programs could provide teachers with new and emerging techniques and strategies in teaching. Then team members can use the strategies in a professional learning community to work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies for their classrooms.

IQ8: Sharing of Instructional Practices

IQ8: Describe how your professional learning community supports the sharing of instructional practices with other colleagues.

Based on the data, professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues once a week in meetings. Pl stated that they asked teachers if they "have any problems that we need to build on to help solve." Another way in which professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues is by attending conferences. Teachers that attend the conferences must come to their PLC and share new and emerging teaching strategies with their colleagues, especially at grade levels. P2 stated that they are always talking about what they want their students to master and how the students will master various skills.

Another way in which professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues is through cutting edge technology. One PLC used Google Academy online to share instructional practices with their colleagues. It was surprising to note that P4's PLC did not encourage their professional learning community to share instructional practices with their colleagues.

Another way in which professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues is through weekly grade-level meetings, especially for new teachers. P5 stated that "you come, you sit, you share what you see." Another way in which professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues is via faculty and staff meetings. Their principal allows the teacher to share new findings with their colleagues. Another way in which professional learning communities support the sharing of instructional practices with their other colleagues is through the district and state training. Also, the information was shared with our grade-level colleagues. Teachers also were encouraged to speak to their grade level above and the grade level below, according to P9. P9 stated that "We work with all teachers and share what we notice, what trends we see. We cooperate with the other teachers and make efforts to modify them. We analyze and share the areas of concerns and the areas of strengths.

IQ9: Supportive Conditions

IQ9: Describe any supportive conditions that exist because of your professional learning community.

Based on the data, various supportive conditions existed because of professional learning communities. According to the P1, teachers supported each other more because

of the professional learning communities. P1 also stated that teachers received more support from building and district-level administrators because of professional learning communities. P2 also echoed the same statement about building and district level administrators who were very supportive in their effort to help students master the standards because of their involvement with professional learning communities. Another supportive condition that existed in the professional learning community was the usage of technology. P3 reported that teachers involved in professional learning communities would get together and show each other how to use different computer programs. P4 talked about how teachers used Zoom meetings and emails to support each other in professional learning communities. According to P6, teachers developed a resource notebook to support each in the professional learning community. The resource notebook was developed to help any struggling teachers. The resource notebooks provided struggling teachers with the contact information of teachers that can assist them with their classroom issues. Literacy coaches also were used to support the needs of teachers in professional learning communities.

Another supportive condition that existed with professional learning community was grade level support. P7 stated that grade level support was paramount because of the expertise of teachers at the same grade-levels within the professional learning communities. Another supportive condition that exists in the professional learning community was state-level support. According to P8, the state department provided staff to their school in order to provide selected training to teachers in the areas of English Language Arts and mathematics. The state department's staff also provide teachers the opportunity to visit other schools and classrooms outside their schools to view other

lessons and practices at other professional learning communities. Another supportive condition that existed in the professional learning community was the relationship bonding of colleagues. Because of the professional learning community, according to P9, their teachers, staff, and administrators function as a family. Positive relationships made it easy for colleagues to work and collaborate. Another supportive condition that existed because of the professional learning community was the usage of teacher observation. P10 stated that teachers observed each other and provided each other with both positive and negative feedback. P10 also stated that teachers enjoyed receiving feedback from each other and learning from each other as well as with each other. The acceptance of feedback occurred because of the development of professional learning communities.

IQ10: Fostering of Professional Learning Communities

IQ10: What are the factors that foster a professional learning community?

When examining the various factors that foster professional learning communities, the most popular answer was the opportunity to meet and collaborate. Regular meetings with teachers and administrators readily foster the development of professional learning communities. The information obtained from P1 and P3 regarding the fostering of professional learning communities, they stated that teachers must have respect for each other. P2 also stated that teachers must have mutual respect for one another. P2 quoted that "Being able to be respectful of each other's opinions. That is if teachers are willing and open to share their thoughts with others and to be able to give honest feedback on all situations."

Another way to foster a professional learning community is by presenting materials to teachers in a hands-on-hands format. Having short training sessions also can foster professional learning communities. It was paramount that training sessions were provided during the summer period or other cycles during the school year. Another way to foster a professional learning community is by presenting information that is interesting to teachers. The training session should not be mandated, but the I Do, You Do, We Do types of learning sessions to better foster professional learning communities (P6 and P7). Teachers can access resources quickly and efficiently is paramount to foster the development of professional learning communities.

Another way to foster a professional learning community is through teacher ability to work together. According to P8, this will only occur if people want to work together. The engagement factor is another factor that fosters positive professional

learning communities. Another way to foster a professional learning community if teachers act as professionals. P9 stated that teachers, "... have to except criticisms professionally." P9 also stated that collaboration is a crucial part of fostering the development of a professional learning community. P10 provided an excellent summary of what factors are needed to foster a professional learning community. As stated in the works of P10 - "Factors that foster PLC are teachers who are willing to share, be honest and open, and people who share the workload. A PLC is good when teachers work together and help each other. It is also helpful when we get to decide what we want to meet about and when we get time to practice what we have learned."

Reported in Table 3 is a summary of themes related to the interview question. The interviewees' first central theme was collaboration and the second central theme was support. The collaboration theme allowed teachers to improve instructional strategies, helped teachers support students better, improved instructional delivery, and afforded teachers the opportunity to share and learn. The support theme provided teachers with support structures with PLC at the building, district, and state levels. This theme also provided teachers and school leaders the opportunity to support colleagues with resources, collaborative unencumbered time, and feedback. Teachers were able to support, offer feedback, and provide instructional resources when trying new strategies in their classroom with students. However, all of the interviewees did not fully agree with the collaboration and support themes of PLC. One interviewee felt that their PLCs did not provide them with total collaboration or support as compared to their colleagues.

Table 3Summary of Themes Related to Interview Question

Theme 1: Collaboration	Theme 2: Support
Collaboration allows teachers to improve instructional strategies	Support structures exist within PLC
Collaboration helps teachers support their students better	School, district, and state leaders support PLC
Supports teachers with improving their instructional delivery	Teachers and school leaders support colleagues with resources and feedback
Affords teachers the opportunity to share and learn	Teachers support each other when trying new strategies

Evidence of Trustworthiness

The most important criteria of a qualitative research study is credibility or trustworthiness which is the equivalent of internal validity (Connelly, 2016). In qualitative research, credibility or trustworthiness "refers to the degree of confidence in data, interpretation, and methods used to ensure the quality of a study" (Connelly, 2016, p.435). Readers of the research study must be able to trust that a study's findings are valid and reliable based on data and not on the researchers own bias or predispositions (Shenton, 2004). I also conducted member checks by allowing participants to verify their transcripts. Credibility for this study was also demonstrated by an iterative coding process which was based on the verified transcripts. Additionally, prior to finalizing themes I once again analyzed each participants' transcripts for one final review. Finally, I

initiated a peer review by having a colleague review the transcripts, coding, and themes to confirm the alignment of the transcripts and coding to the identified themes for this study.

Transferability

Transferability or external validity refers to the degree that the results of the qualitative research study can be applied beyond the context of the study by gathering descriptive data from participants (Beck, 2009). This basic qualitative study compromises significant details to allow readers to determine if their own study is aligned enough to the situation in order for the findings to be applicable. The results of this study could potentially generate hypotheses for further research.

Dependability

The dependability of the interpretation of the data was accomplished by using open and thematic coding strategies. According to Shenton (2004), dependability in primary qualitative research is equivalent to quantitative research reliability.

Additionally, dependability describes the study's reliability because impending research would result in the same findings after conducting the same research methods and design. The convergence validated the dependability among themes or categories and the process of allowing all participants to verify their transcripts. Furthermore, dependability was established by thoroughly describing the research design and rationale, methodology, procedures for recruitment, and the data collection process.

Confirmability

According to Shenton (2004), confirmability refers to the study's objectivity. To establish confirmability, a researcher must ensure the findings are a result

of authentic data that has been gathered and analyzed absent of bias to the best of the researcher's ability. While conducting a qualitative study a researcher is expected to interpret and analyze each participant's perceptions and avoid their own opinions or assumptions. Establishing confirmability by implementing with fidelity a process of reflexivity. Transparency was presented in the study by sharing the findings after a thorough and methodical analysis process.

Summary

In this chapter I briefly reviewed the purpose of the study, described the setting where the research was conducted, and presented relevant participant demographics. I also provided an overview of the data collection process as well as the step by step process of how the data analysis was conducted. Chapter 4 also includes the results found from the research questions and offers evidence of the study's trustworthiness by describing the process implemented to ensure credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability within the study.

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to better understand prekindergarten through third grade teachers' perceptions of how early

childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. Themes included: collaboration allows teachers to improve instructional strategies and several support structures exist through professional learning communities. Through those support structures teachers are able to improve their instructional practices. All of the research participants agreed that the phenomenon of professional learning communities is beneficial to the professional growth of teachers when supports are intertwined with collaboration with other colleagues. All of the teachers who

participated in this study expressed that professional learning communities were beneficial to some degree when supportive collaboration is practiced (RQ1).

In Chapter 5, the researcher will summarize and interpret the study's findings, describe the limitations to trustworthiness, share recommendations for future research, and offer the potential impact for positive social change. Finally, the researcher will provide a conclusion that captures the essence of the study.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative research study was to better understand prekindergarten through third grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. The problem to be addressed by this research is it is unknown to what extent PLC conducted with prekindergarten through third-grade teachers improves instructional practices. As the researcher, the researcher's interest was to closely examine professional learning communities' phenomenon to determine the factors that contribute to teachers enhancing their instructional practices while engaged in professional learning communities. These early childhood teachers offered their perceptions as they were engaged in professional learning communities due to their district's and school's expectations. Furthermore, it explored how teachers made meaning of their participation in the professional learning community process based on their individual and collective experiences.

Semi-structured interviews were used to gather data for the research study.

According to Almeida, Faria, and Queirós (2017), a qualitative methodology is appropriate for a basic qualitative study to understand better beliefs, attitudes, and meanings about a phenomenon. In this study, the participant interviews were used to better understand prekindergarten through third-grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices.

The interviews allowed the researcher to gain detailed first-hand perceptions, thoughts, feelings, and opinions about PLC's phenomenon. Each participant responded to 10 interview questions regarding PLC enhancing instructional practices while allowing the

researcher to remain focused on the problem statement and the purpose of the study. The participant responses to the interview questions were aligned to the research question and helped me to gain a better understanding of their beliefs, attitudes, and perceptions of how PLC enhances early childhood teacher's instructional practices. The two major themes that materialized after a thorough coding process were (a) collaboration allows teachers to improve instructional strategies and (b) support structures exist through professional learning communities.

Interpretation of the Findings

After the analysis of the participants' transcripts and the coding process the findings confirm that PLC are successful and beneficial to enhancing teachers' professional growth. The implementation of PLC alleviates teachers working in isolation and establishes collegiality and a collaborative learning environment for all members of the learning community. Evidence from the findings indicated that providing consistent opportunities for professional dialogue appears to be advantageous as a result of school structures being put in place for each grade level to collaborate for the purpose of enhancing teacher knowledge through PLC.

The research participants' semi-structured interviews showed that the implementation of PLC for early childhood teachers is a critical component to ensure collaboration leads to enhancing instructional practices. Most importantly, the findings from this study, as reflected in the literature, suggest that PLC need to work and learning together to find the best ways to enhancing and improve teacher professional growth.

Based on the peer-reviewed literature in this study, teachers are the essential ingredient in improving schools' teaching and learning environment.

Other research studies regarding PLC supported the findings of this research study. Postholm and Waege (2016) stated that teachers must have the opportunity to work together, discuss their teaching experiences, observe their colleagues, and provide feedback. This research study's findings were consistent with the research study of Postholm and Waege (2016). The information obtained from P1 and P3 regarding fostering professional learning communities stated that teachers must respect each other. P2 also stated that teachers must have mutual respect for one another. P2 quoted that, "Being able to be respectful of each other's opinions. That is, if teachers are willing and open to share their thoughts with others and to be able to give honest feedback on all situations." The term feedback was a consistent finding of this research study.

The collaboration was a significant finding of a study by Wagner, Ossd, Parra, and Proctor (2019) regarding PLC; this research study supported this finding. The collaboration was a central theme that surfaced within this research study and other studies by Colmer, 2017; Damjanovic and Blank, 2018; Sjoer and Meirink, 2016; and Vooget et al. 2016). Woodland and Mazur (2015) stated the importance of collaboration within the teachers. The teachers echoed this sentiment interviewed for this study.

These teachers used school meetings as a primary way for team members within the PLC to work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies for classrooms. According to Horn and Kane (2016), strong PLC foster trust that supports teachers with trying new instructional strategies to develop new instructional practices.

This study and Horn and Kane (2016) support that findings PLC foster new instructional practices.

Attorps and Kellner, 2017 stated that PLC could enhance instructional practices. The findings of this study also indicated that PLC could enhance instructional practices. The five PLC dimensions stated by Olivier and Huffman (2016) were primary themes of this research study findings. The themes were supportive leadership, value, vision, collective learning, application, shared personal practices, and supportive conditions.

Thornton and Cherrington (2019) noted that it is essential that PLC have a clear purpose and focus on achieving goals and enhancing teachers' professional practice for optimal benefits. For Question 4, P1 stated that their school "... always have visions for what we need to do, we try to set good values and goals. We develop clear student-centered objectives." This statement supported what Thornton and Cherrington noted in their 2019 study.

The research question that was developed for this study was designed to help me better understand prekindergarten through third grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. There was one research question used to report the results of data collected from the open-ended semi-structured interview questions. The research question was:

RQ1. What are early childhood teacher's perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teacher's instructional practices?

Interpretation of RQ1

As a result of the interview questions with this study, the data revealed teachers perceived PLC at their school site as a process which supports collaboration and relevant learning. Collaboration was a major theme that surfaced as each participant expressed how they learned, practiced strategies, dialogued, analyzed data, attended conferences, provided feedback, and observed classrooms together among many other daily professional practices. Another major theme was the support structures that were in placed as a result of PLC. Since they met together consistently they were able to assist each other with implementing new learning, supporting each other with teaching new strategies, gaining support and feedback from school leaders and colleagues, assisting in a colleague's classroom with students, and supporting each other with preparing for school and state assessments. Data analysis indicated that participants were unanimous in the perception that collaboration supports their learning and because of the collaboration various support structures assist the PLC in enhancing their instructional practices. These findings align to the five dimensions of meaningful collaborative learning in order to increase teaching and learning for teachers and their students (Olivier and Huffman, 2016). According to Olivier and Huffman (2016), the five essential dimensions are shared and supportive leadership, values and vision, collective learning and application, shared personal practice, and supportive conditions.

Table 4

Theme1 Related to RQ1

D (' ')	TI 1 C 11 1 4' A11 T 1 4 T
Participant	Theme 1: Collaboration Allows Teachers to Improve
	Instructional Strategies
P1	Well like I said, we share data and we discuss ways that are old and new that work for students. We observe in the classrooms, we have district professional development workshops, I would say online conferences, such as we did with the COVID outbreak. We share test results and then go from there to see if our activities and objectives are working well. We meet as a team. Every week and we share lesson plans and celebrations, so it keeps everybody on the same page.
P2	We collaborate throughout the year to make sure that our students are have whatever they need to be successful in the next grade level.
P3	We are always sharing ideas in our classroom to help students improve their knowledge.
P4	We share ideas with each other about what works for our kids.
P5	The teachers get together to collaborate as one. So we make sure that across the board we meet together as a grade level to plan that lesson. And then for the upper grades we might share what we are doing. Upper grades might take it a little bit further, but definitely looking at the standards, planning the lesson together.
P6	When we do vertical articulation and we discuss strengths, we also share with other grades things the students need to know before they come to us. This helps strengthen the grade level. We share cross curricular information. We talk about how will the literacy and math strategies look and sound in another classroom. We even discuss how it would look in music or art class.

Table 4 (Continue)

Theme1 Related to RQ1

Participant	Theme 1: Collaboration Allows Teachers to Improve Instructional Strategies
P7	And we actually had a couple of days where we were out of the classroom together and developing, not really a curriculum, but developing, like planned lessons for us to follow so we can all be on the same target because what we found out was with the writing portion of the test we're all focusing on different things.
P8	I may get two students from another class and one student from a separate class, and they come into my classroom and I might read with them or give them some reading strategies. So that's one way that we collaborate for the betterment of the child.
P9	We work with all teachers and share what we notice, what trends we see. We cooperate with the other teachers and make efforts to modify. We analyze and share the areas of concerns and the areas of strengths.
P10	Like I said we meet with each other and we discuss strategies and how to improve on those strategies. We have time to observe each other while we are teaching and give feedback. We share positives and areas for improvement. We enjoy receiving feedback from each other and learning from each other.

Table 5

Theme2 Related to RQ1

Dandiate	There 2. Comment Characterise For 1.41. I.D. C. 1.1.
Participant	Theme 2: Support Structures Exist through Professional
	Learning Communities
P1	With teacher leadership, I would say that we improve confidence, we share data, we have a support system for one another, we celebrate our successes, and we work on the things that need working on.
P2	They come and offer assistance all the time. They are visible. They attend our grade level meetings. We share the minutes from our meeting and they provide feedback and share with us.
P3	I am able to learn from the other teachers in my group about the computer. I sometimes even go to their house to learn more about the computer. We get together and we show each other how to use these different computer programs.
P4	We help if a teacher needs help.
P5	It makes you feel like you have completed something and that you have made a difference for your students. That alone gives you the sense that the professional learning community and sharing of ideas, strategies, getting that support, really means a lot and makes sense.
P6	They ask us what we need the most support in. The leaders ask us what we feel is important. They try to provide the professional development around those areas of need or areas of weakness. It is based on our needs.
P7	Our grade level is very supportive of one another. We help each other out when we need to.

Table 5 (Continue)

Theme2 Related to RQ1

Participant	Theme 2: Support Structures Exist through Professional Learning Communities
P8	We do have a lot of support. We have people from the state that come and train us. We do have quite a bit of things.
P9	They support professional learning communities by having regular professional development and by communicating with staff and providing feedback to all teachers.
P10	We support each other and help each other as needed. Sometimes we teach in the other person's classroom to help them accomplish a teaching strategy.

Limitations of the Study

The primary limitations of this study were the sampling method and sampling size. The researcher used convenience sampling. A convenience sample is a non-probability sampling method where the sample is taken from a group of people easy to contact or reached by the researcher. The sample size was also a primary limitation. Only ten early childhood participants were interviewed for this research study. These ten participants used PLC at one public elementary Title I school. These individuals' PLC usage is not reflected in the large population of elementary teachers who used PLC. Furthermore, as the researcher I assumed all participants were authentic and honest during the interview process. Therefore, I analyzed the interview responses assuming

they were accurately and truthfully sharing their perceptions as a result of their engagement in PLC.

The interview method used by the researcher to collect the data for this study has limitations. An interview in qualitative research is a conversation where questions are asked to elicit information. The researcher interviewed the study participants to uncover the meanings of central themes in the subjects' life and world from their point of view. Interviewing participants can paint a picture of what happened in a specific event, tell us their perspective of such an event, and give other social cues. Social cues, such as voice, intonation, body language, etc. of the interviewee, can give the interviewer a lot of extra information that can be added to the interviewee's verbal answer on a question. Whether verbal or nonverbal, this detailed description level can show an otherwise hidden interrelatedness between interviewer and interviewees. First, there can be complications with the planning of the interview. Not only is recruiting people for interviews hard, due to the interview's typically personal nature, planning the interview, and confirming the time of the interview can be difficult. Also, participants can cancel or change the time of the interview at the last minute.

During the actual interview, the researcher might miss some information. It can arise from the immense multitasking that the interviewer must do. Not only do they have to make the respondent feel very comfortable, but they also have to keep as much reading the questions correctly as possible, write down as much as they can if necessary, and think of follow up questions. After the interview, the coding process begins, and with this comes its own set of disadvantages. First, coding can be too time-consuming. The researchers may miss data during the interview. Another limitation is that the dictation

may not be interpreted correctly by the researcher. As the researcher, it assumed all participants were authentic and honest during the interview process. Therefore, the researcher analyzed the interview responses assuming they were accurately and truthfully sharing their perceptions due to their PLC engagement. The researcher constructed the interview protocol and questions for this study and was they designed to support the conceptual framework. Notes were purposefully not taken during the interviews in order to listen carefully to the interviewee.

The recordings of the interviewees were immediately transcribed word-for-word at the completion of the interview, reviewed for accuracy and validated by the individual participants. There were no discrepancies in the transcriptions based on each participants' validation of the transcripts. Therefore, understanding the factors within their PLC that enhance teachers' instructional practices is limited to the early childhood teachers' perceptions and experiences in this study. As a result of the limitations presented based on the methodology of the study there is a potential for adding to the knowledge of PLC through further study, expansion, and generalizability.

Recommendations

This study and most studies cited in this research study used qualitative methodologies to obtain the research data for PLC studies. Bryman (1988: p 46) wrote that "qualitative researchers prefer an approach to the study of the social world which seeks to describe and analyze the culture and behavior of humans and their groups from the point of view of those being studied." This approach may or may not be the best method for gathering data for research studies regarding PLC because of the limited

number of individuals involved in the research study. Some researchers believe that the quantitative research approach might be the best method for collecting data regarding PLC. Quantitative research is the systematic empirical investigation of observable phenomena via statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques. The method allows the researcher to investigate a large number of individuals using a systematic process. The researchers can generalize from the sample to the population; this cannot be done in qualitative research. This research study is recommending that future research studies regarding PLC should use mixed-method research designed. The Mixed Method research design allows researchers to use qualitative and quantitative research designs' best features. Mixed methods research includes mixing qualitative and quantitative data, methods, methodologies, and/or paradigms in a research study or set of related studies. One could argue that mixed methods research is a special case of multimethod research.

Additionally, increasing the sample size to include teachers from other schools, geographical locations, a larger grade span of teachers, and the teachers' years of experience within PLC may allow for a more in-depth analysis of the factors that enhance teachers' instructional practices.

Recommendations for further research regarding PLC are paramount to developing new teaching strategies and techniques to improve elementary students' academic performance through collaboration. This process is referred to as collective learning. Collective learning and application are described as the teachers' opportunity to share information, work collaboratively to plan, solve problems, and improve learning opportunities in their classroom through collaboration with colleagues (Olivier & Huffman, 2016). Capraro et al. (2016) found that if teachers have adequate time for

collaboration, they can improve their instructional practice by obtaining and using knowledge from other teachers rather than working in isolation. According to Dufour and Reeves (2016), an actual PLC functions as a collaborative team rather than in isolation and takes collective responsibility for student learning.

This study and other studies have found that collaboration among teachers can enhance teachers' knowledge, leading to improved student performance. Hence, if decision makers and educational leaders use the findings from PLC research they could possibly pervade the individualism and bureaucracy that exist in education. Additionally, social change in education can potentially be impacted by improved instructional practices and student outcomes as a result of communities of practice or PLC. Therefore, it is fundamentally possible that when a community of learners collaborates they could transform teaching and learning resulting in positive social change that produces teachers with a higher capacity to implement evidence-based instructional strategies and more students who meet or exceed state and national academic and career standards.

When students can perform the three r's (i.e., reading, writing, and arithmetic) at grade level, they will be productive citizens in society. Productive citizens bring positive change to their communities through education and employment. Our society only changes when it most valuable assess changes. The people are the most important assets of a community, especially if they are educated. Well, educated students will have the opportunity to continue their educational experience in other educational arenas. Higher education leads to higher-paying jobs, which leads to better communities, which leads to better citizens, which leads to a better social change in our society.

Consequently, Buttram and Farley-Ripple (2016) claimed that PLCs provide one option for fostering teacher collegiality and shared accountability. Hence, numerous researchers' familiar premise is that a collaborative design embedded within PLC positively influences professional learning and practice (Colmer, 2017; Damjanovic and Blank, 2018; Sjoer & Meirink, 2016; Voogt et al., 2016). Because there is no consistent way in how teachers should collaborate, more research is needed in PLC. Additionally, researchers need to consider further studies to track and explore how PLC directly impacts student achievement explicitly. If our schools can genuinely educate our students, the communities in which these schools are located will change significantly. Social change wants to occur in most communities until the people of those communities become better educated. That why paramount for schools to find new strategies for better education students from low-performing schools. Students from low-performing schools make less of an impact on our society than students from high-performing schools. Social change involves alteration of the social order of a society. The social changes occur when the people in our society are educated across the board regardless of gender, racial ethnicity, social status, income, or religion.

Finally, the investigation into the influence PLC have on enhancing instructional practices and transforming social change in education may afford scholars and early childhood teachers the opportunity to gather a more in-depth knowledge base about the contextual factors that influence the implementation of PLC to enhance instructional practices. According to the research change in the educational arena as a result of best practices with PLC may nudge the professional learning community process closer to its potential role as a necessary protocol of transformative learning for teachers will can

increase life long learners therefore benefiting our society with well educated and productive citizens.

Implications

The findings of the current study have implications that may add to positive social change. First, the findings that emerged in this study may assist district and school leaders and teachers who engage in PLC with implementing practices that foster and promote instructional practices. Therefore, effective PLC may bring about positive social change by improving the quality of education and how PLC and teachers work together to increase best practices (Pang & Wang, 2016). Correspondingly, this qualitative research may lead to positive social change by developing improved PLC, which could improve teacher self-efficacy, thereby producing more confident and competent educators (Gilbert et al., 2018) and, ultimately, young children. An understanding of PLC practices may improve instructional strategies, which may improve students' academic achievement. The researcher learned that professional learning communities could improve the quality of instructional practices if the PLCs are implemented based on this study's findings and other studies referenced in this document.

Conclusion

Teachers are the school's most potent resources. The teacher is one who transfers the knowledge they gain through formal and informal training to our students. The more knowledgeable a teacher, the more knowledge they will transfer to our students. Based on those premises, this is why PLC is paramount in the educational systems today. PLC exemplifies social constructivism, which allows teachers to learn from one another to enhance professional practice. Teachers collaborating through PLC enhance collegial

learning and allows teachers to share and learn evidence-based practices both in formal and informal settings. Bannister (2015) noted that teacher communities are a learning resource for teachers in the same content area, school, grade level, or teachers with a common problem of practice whose collaboration is intended to provide a robust setting for teacher leaders to student learning. Gee and Whaley (2016) asserted that the use of collaborative PLC is the best and professionally rewarding way to enhance professional learning. Teacher collaboration is also widely acknowledged as a powerful tool for professional teacher learning and sustainable school improvement (Gee & Whaley, 2016; Sjoer & Meirink, 2016).

This study of ten elementary teachers at one Title I school revealed several themes related to PLC. Based on the evidence, collaborative learning occurred due to professional learning communities with teachers collaborating by sharing new learning techniques and sharing them with other teachers at various grade levels and within the same grade level. One teacher could not state a better reason for PLC "...always sharing ideas in our classroom to help students improve their knowledge". The evidence also reflected that teachers believed that the PLC taught them about the standards and how they should be used at the various grade levels. Study participants believed that collaborative learning was needed for grade-level planning for all grade levels regardless of standards. "What students need to know to go on to the next grade level and what they will be taught at the next grade level according to the standards."

Again, the evidence showed that teachers within the professional learning community work together in various ways to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies, and applying them to classrooms benefit both teachers and students at the end

of the day. In summary, "We are always helping each other become better teachers.

Almost every time we are together, we are learning from each other how to be a better teacher" to improve student achievement. This process can indeed be achieved through the usage of PLC in our schools. Postholm and Waege (2016) stated that it is critical for teachers to have the opportunity to work together, discuss their teaching experiences, observe their colleagues, and provide feedback to better their practice.

However, the study participants provided ways in which PLC could be improved and things that did not work well in PLCs. Participants stated that what is needed is individually and holistically by classes for students is different depending on the teacher and the students. Teachers also conveyed that their PLC needed more professional development that was planned and chosen by them as well as the need to be more involved in the decision-making process. Some participants stated that they needed new strategies and practices for mathematics in the strand of number and operation because it was a weakness in their PLC. Other participants need help with the implementation of strategies and practices that can improve students reading performance. Finding ways to involve stakeholders was another paramount issue that study participants needed improvement with for their PLC. The need for help with learning research-based strategies, resources, material, and technology was also the needs of study participants.

Some participants stated that large groups did not work, but small groups worked very well in PLCs. They stated that pull-out worked in PLCs, but none pull-out did not work well in PLCs. Participants who worked with PLCs at various education levels stated that PLCs worked well at the elementary level, not the high school level. There was no mention of the middle level and PLCs. It is important to note that one participant stated

that "not teaching the materials in the books, but teaching students how to become a better person and become a person who had learned and to be a good citizen.

Few discrepant responses occurred on some of the questions asked to the study participants. None of the study participants reported negatively to every question asked by respondents regarding PLC. For example, a participant stated that "I do not think that it does." This participant did not answer the question. Another participant stated that "I know we are in a lot of meetings." They also did not answer the question. Another example, "We share ideas with each other about what works for our kids. We help if a teacher needs help". This participant also did not answer the question. Another discrepant response was "They hold community meetings once a month and people get to speak in private sessions." The question was not addressed based on the participant response. Also, another discrepant response was "We meet a lot," that was not a response to the question, but, the response of the study participant. However, nearly all of the study participants suggested that elementary school should invest in PLCs. They believed that PLCs created an environment that allowed teachers to collaborate as well as support each other in their education arena.

References

- Almeida, F., Faria, D., & Queirós, A. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, *3*, 369 387. http://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089
- Attorps, I., & Kellner, E. (2017). School-university action research: Impacts on teaching practices and pupil learning. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, 15(2), 313–330.
- Auslander, S. S., Meyers, B., Schafer, N., Kavanagh, K., & Haardoerfer, R. (2018).

 Becoming critical friends: Developmental portraits of three professional learning communities. *National Teacher Education Journal*, 11(2), 23–39.
- Avidov-Ungar, O. (2018). Professional development communities: The perceptions of Israeli teacher-leaders and program coordinators. *Professional Development in Education*, 44(5), 663-677. doi:10.1080/19415257.2017.1388269
- Bailey, K., & Jakicic, C. (2019). *Make it happen: Coaching with the 4 critical questions of PLCs at Work*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.
- Babbie, E. (2017). *The basics of social research*. Boston, MA. Cengage Learning.
- Bahous, R., Busher, H., & Nabhani, M. (2016). Teachers' views of professional learning and collaboration in four urban Lebanese primary schools. *Teacher Development*, 20(2), 197–212. doi:10.1080/13664530.2015.1124137
- Bannister, N. A. (2015). Reframing practice: Teacher learning through interactions in a collaborative group. *Journal of Learning Sciences*, 24(3), 347-372, doi: 10.1080/10508406.201.999196

- Beck, C. T. (2009). Critiquing qualitative research. *ARON Jornal*, 90(4), 543-554.

 Doi:10.1016/j.aorn.2008.12.023
- Bellibas, M. S., Bulut, O., & Gedik, S. (2017). Investigating professional learning communities in Turkish schools: The effects of contextual factors. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(3), 353-374. doi:10.1080/19415257.2016.1182937
- Benoliel, P., & Schechter, C. (2017). Is it personal? Teacher's personality and the principal's role in professional learning communities. *Improving Schools*, 20(3), 222–235.
- Binkhorst, F., Poortman, C. L., & van Joolingen, W. R. (2017). A qualitative analysis of teacher design teams: In-depth insights into their process and links with their outcomes. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *55*, 135-144. doi.10.1016/j.stueduc.2017.10.001
- Binkhorst, F., Poortman, C. L., McKenney, S. E., & van Joolingen, W. R. (2018).

 Revealing the balancing act of vertical and shared leadership in Teacher Design

 Teams. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 72, 1–12.

 doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.02.006
- Brown, B. D., Horn, R. S., & King, G. (2018). The effective implementation of professional learning communities. *Alabama Journal of Educational Leadership*, *5*, 53–59.
- Burns, M. K., Naughton, M. R., Preast, J. L., Wang, Z., Gordon, R. L., Robb, V., & Smith, M. L. (2018). Factors of professional learning community implementation

- and effect on student achievement. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 28(4), 394-412. doi:10.1080/10474412.2017.1385396
- Bush, T. (2018). Professional learning communities and school leadership: Empowering teachers. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 46(5), 711–712. doi:10.1177/1741143218782316
- Buttram, J. L., & Farley-Ripple, E. N. (2016). The role of principals in professional learning communities. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 15(2), 192–220. doi:10.1080/15700763.2015.1039136
- Carpenter, D. (2018). Intellectual and physical shared workspace. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 32(1), 121–140. doi:10.1108/IJEM-05-2017-0104
- Capraro, R. M., Capraro, M. M., Scheurich, J. J., Jones, M., Morgan, J., Huggins, K. S., Hang, S. (2016). Impact of sustained professional development in STEM on outcome measures in a diverse urban district. *Journal of Educational Research*, 109(2), 181–196. Doi:10.1080/00220671.2014.936997
- Chen, P., Lee, C., Lin, H., & Zhang, C. (2016). Factors that develop effective professional learning communities in Taiwan. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, *36*(2), 248-265. doi:10.1080/02188791.2016.1148853
- Colmer, K. (2017). Collaborative professional learning: Contributing to the growth of leadership, professional identity and professionalism. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 25(3), 436–449. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/1350293X.2017.1308167
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding Research. Trustworthiness in Qualitative

- Research. MEDSURG *Nursing*, 25(6), 435–436.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Damjanovic, V., & Blank, J. (2018). Building a professional learning community:

 Teachers' documentation of and reflections on preschoolers' work. *Early*Childhood Educational Journal, 46(5), 567–575. doi:10.1007/s10643-017-0888-0
- de Jong, L., Meirink, J., & Admiraal, W. (2019). School-based teacher collaboration:

 Different learning opportunities across various contexts. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2019.102925
- Dehdary, N. (2017). A look into a professional learning community. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 8(4), 645–654. doi:10.17507/jltr.0804.02
- DeLuca, C. (2017). Systemic professional learning through collaborative inquiry:

 Examining teachers' perspectives. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 67-78.

 doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.014
- Doğan, S., & Adams, A. (2018). Effect of professional learning communities on teachers and students: Reporting updated results and raising questions about research design. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*.

 doi:10.1080/09243453.2018.1500921
- DuFour, R. (2016). Learning by doing: A handbook for professional learning communities at work. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.

- DuFour, R., & Reeves, D. (2016). The futility of PLC lite. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 97(6). doi:10.1177/0031721716636878
- Esterberg, K. G. (2002). *Qualitative methods in social research*. Boston, MA: McGraw Hill
- Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology and Health*, 25(10), 1229-1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Gee, D., & Whaley, J. (2016). Learning together: Practice-centred professional development to enhance mathematics instruction. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, 18(1), 87–99.
- Gilbert, K., Voelkel Jr., R. H., & Johnson, C. W. (2018). Increasing self-efficacy through immersive simulations: Leading professional learning communities. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *17*(3), 154–174. doi:10.12806/V17/I3/R9
- Glen, M., Blackberry, G. & Kearney, J. (2017) Leading school improvement, innovation and professional learning through action research: A policy and practice review. *Leading & Managing*, 23(1), 1–11.

- Gray, J., Kruse, S., & Tarter, C. J. (2016). Enabling school structures, collegial trust and academic emphasis. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 44(6), 875–891. doi:10.1177/1741143215574505
- Guerra, P., & Figueroa, I. (2018). Action-research and early childhood teachers in Chile:

 Analysis of a teacher professional development experience. *Early Years*, 38(4),
 396-410. doi:10.1080/09575146.2017.1288088
- Hagen, M., & Park, S. (2016). We knew it all along! Using cognitive science to explain how andragogy works. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(3), 171-190. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0081
- Hallam, P. R., Smith, H. R., Hite, J. M., Hite, S. J., & Wilcox, B. R. (2015). Trust and Collaboration in PLC Teams: Teacher Relationships, Principal Support, and Collaborative Benefits. *NASSP Bulletin*, 99(3), 193–216.
 doi:10.1177/0192636515602330
- Hairon, S., Goh, J. W. P., & Chua, C. S. K. (2015). Teacher leadership enactment in professional learning community contexts: Towards a better understanding of the phenomenon. *School Leadership & Management*, *35*(2), 163–182.
- Ho, D., & Lee, M. (2016). Capacity building for school development: Current problems and future challenges. *School Leadership & Management*, *36*(5), 493–507.
- Horn, I. S., Garner, B., Kane, B. D., & Brasel, J. (2017). A taxonomy of instructional learning opportunities in teachers' workgroup conversations. *Journal of Teacher Education*, (1), 41. doi:10.1177/0022487116676315
- Horn, I. S., & Kane, B. D., (2015). Opportunities for professional learning in mathematics teacher workgroup conversations: Relationships to instructional

- expertise. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *24*(3), 373-418. doi:10.1080/10508406.2015.1034865
- Huffman, J. B., Olivier, D. F., Wang, T., Chen, P., Hairon, S., & Pang, N. (2016). Global conceptualization of the professional learning community process: Transitioning from country perspectives to international commonalities. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 19(3), 327-351. doi:10.1080/13603124.2015.1020343
- Hurley, N., Seifert, T., Sheppard, B. (2018). An investigation of the relationship between professional learning community practices and student achievement in an eastern Canadian school board. *Canadian Journal of Educational Administration and Policy*, 185, 4-18. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1179189.pdf
- Institute of Education Sciences. (2016). Measurement instruments for assessing the performance of professional learning communities. Retrieved from https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/midatlantic/pdf/REL_2016144.pdf
- Johnson, S., Finlon, K., Kobak, R., & Izard, C. (2017). Promoting student-teacher interactions: Exploring a peer coaching model for teachers in a preschool setting. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 45(4), 461–470. doi:10.1007/s10643-016-0790-1
- Johnston, J., & George, S. (2018). A tool for capacity building: Teacher professional learning about teaching writing. *Teacher Development*, 22(5), 685-702. doi:10.1080/13664530.2018.1484389
- Kalkan, F. (2016). Relationship between professional learning community, bureaucratic structure and organisational trust in primary education schools. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, *16*(5), 1619–1637. doi:10.12738/estp.2016.5.0022

- Keung, C. P. C., Yin, H., Tam, W. W. Y., Chai, C. S., & Ng, C. K. K. (2019).
 Kindergarten teachers' perceptions of whole-child development: The roles of leadership practices and professional learning communities. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*. doi.org/10.1177/1741143219864941
- Kruse, S. D., & Johnson, B. L. (2017). Tempering the normative demands of professional learning communities with the organizational realities of life in schools:
 Exploring the cognitive dilemmas faced by educational leaders. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 45(4), 588–604.
 doi:10.1177/1741143216636111
- Leedy, P.D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2014). *Practical research: Planning and design* (10th ed). Edinburgh Gate, ENGLAND: Pearson.
- LeChasseur, K., Mayer, A., Welton, A., & Donaldson, M. (2016). Situating teacher inquiry: A micropolitical perspective. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 27(2), 255-274. doi:10.1080/09243453.2015.1021818
- Lichtman, M. (2010). *Qualitative Research in Education: A user's guide* (2nd ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Louws, M. L., Meirink, J. A., van Veen, K., & van Driel, J. H. (2017). Teachers' self-directed learning and teaching experience: What, how, and why teachers want to learn. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 66, 171–183. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.04.004
- McBrayer, J. S., Chance, J., Pannell, S., & Wells, P. (2018). A system-wide, collaborative, purposeful, and sustainable distributed leadership plan utilizing

- teacher leaders to facilitate professional learning communities. *Educational Planning*, 25(4), 27–46.
- McNeill, J., Butt, G., & Armstrong, A. (2016). Developing collaborative approaches to enhance the professional development of primary mathematics teachers. *Education 3-13*, 44(4), 426–441. doi:10.1080/03004279.2014.973896
- Merriam S. B. (1998). *Qualitative research and case study applications in education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to desing and implementation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mu, G. M., Liang, W., Lu. L., Huang, D. (2018). Building pedagogical content knowledge within professional learning communities: An approach to counteracting regional education inequality. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73, 24-34. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2018.03.006
- Mundschenk, N. A., & Fuchs, W. W. (2016). Professional learning communities: An effective mechanism for the successful implementation and sustainability of response to intervention. *SRATE Journal*, 25(2), 55–64.
- National Center for Educational Statistics. (2017). Stats in brief: Teacher professional development. Retrieved from https://ncs.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017200.pdf
- Newberry, M., Sanchez, L. O., Clark, S. K. (2018). Interactional dimensions of teacher change: A case study of the evolution of professional and personal relationships. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *4*, 29-50.
- Ning, H. Lee, D., & Lee, W. (2015). Relationships between teacher value orientations,

- collegiality, and collaboration in school professional learning communities. *Social Psychology of Education*, *18*(2), 337–354. doi:10.1007/s11218-015-9294-x
- Olivier, D. F., & Huffman, J. B. (2016). Professional learning community process in the United States: Conceptualization of the process and district support for schools. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, *36*(2), 301–317. doi:10.1080/02188791.2016.1148856
- Owen, S. (2016). Professional learning communities: Building skills, reinvigorating the passion, and nurturing teacher wellbeing and "flourishing" within significantly innovative schooling contexts. *Educational Review*, 68(4), 403–419. doi:10.1080/00131911.2015.1119101
- Pang, N. S-K., & Wang, T. (2016). Professional learning communities: Research and practices across six educational systems in the Asia-Pacific region. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 36(2), 193-201. doi:10.1080/02188791.2016.1148848
- Park, J.-H., Lee, I. H., & Cooc, N. (2019). The role of school-level mechanisms: How principal support, professional learning communities, collective responsibility, and group-level teacher expectations affect student achievement. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 55(5), 742–780. doi:10.1177/0013161X18821355
- Penner-Williams, J., Díaz, E. I., & Gonzales Worthen, D. (2017). PLCs: Key PD component in learning transfer for teachers of English learners. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 65, 215–229. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2017.03.014
- Philpott, C., & Oates, C. (2017). Professional learning communities as drivers of educational change: The case of learning rounds. *Journal of Educational*

- Change, 18(2), 209–234. doi:10.1007/s10833-016-9278-4
- Plows, V. (2017). Reworking or reaffirming practice? Perceptions of professional learning in alternative and flexible education settings. *Teaching Education*, 28(1), 72–87. doi:10.1080/10476210.2016.1251416
- Postholm, M. B., & Waege, K. (2016). Teachers' learning in school-based development. *Educational Research*, 58(1), 24–38. doi:10.1080/00131881.2015.1117350
- Prenger, R., Poortman, C. L., & Handelzalts, A. (2019). The effects of networked professional learning communities. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *5*, 441. doi:10.1177/0022487117753574
- Qiao, X., Yu, S., & Zhang, L. (2017). A review of research on professional learning communities in mainland China (2006-2015): Key findings and emerging themes. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 46(5), 713–728. doi:10.1177/1741143217707523
- Ravitch, S. M., & Mittenfelner, C. N. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Reed, L. C., & Swaminathan, R. (2016). An urban school leader's approach to school improvement: Toward contextually responsive leadership. *Urban Education*, 51(9), 1096–1125. doi:10.1177/0042085914553675
- Rönnerman, K., Edwards-Groves, C., & Grootenboer, P. (2015). Opening up communicative spaces for discussion "quality practices" in early childhood education through middle leadership. *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, *3*, 67–76. doi:10.3402/nstep.v1.30098

- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative Interviewing: The art of hearing data.*Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Sacks, A. (2017). Empowering teachers to respond to change: With high levels of change expected, schools must set up structures that help teachers share their best thinking and manage change effectively. *Educational Leadership*, 74(9), 40–45.
- Shenton, A. K. (2004). Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. *Education for Information*, 22(2), 63-75.
- Sjoer, E., & Meirink, J. (2016). Understanding the complexity of teacher interaction in a teacher professional learning community. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 39(1), 110-125. doi:10.1080/02619768.2014.994058
- Solution Tree. (2020). History of PLC. Retrieved from https://www.allthingsplc.info/mobile/history-of-plc
 - Sompong, S., Erawan, P., Dharm-tad-sa-na-non, S. (2015). The development of professional learning community in primary schools. *Educational Research and Reviews*, *10* (21), 2789-2796. doi: 10.5897/ERR2015.2343
- Song, K., & Choi, J. (2017). Structural analysis of factors that influence professional learning communities in Korean elementary schools. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 10(1), 1-9. doi:10.26822/iejee.2017131882
 - South Carolina Department of Education. (2020). SC School Report Card. Retrieved from https://screportcards.ed.sc.gov/overview/?q=eT0yMDE5JnQ9RSZzaWQ9

 MDMwMTAwNA

- Stein, K. C., Macaluso, M., & Stanulis, R. N. (2016). The interplay between principal leadership and teacher leader efficacy. *Journal of School Leadership*, (6), 1002.
- Steyn, G. M. (2016). Teacher collaboration and invitational leadership in a South African primary school. *Education and Urban Society*, 48(5), 504–526. doi:10.1177/0013124514536441
- Thessin, R. A. (2015). Learning from one urban school district: planning to provide essential supports for teachers' work in professional learning communities. *Educational Planning*, 22(1), 15–27.
- Thomas, G. (2017). How to do your research project: A guide for students. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Thornton, K., & Cherrington, S. (2019). Professional learning communities in early childhood education: A vehicle for professional growth. *Professional Development in Education*, 45(3), 418–432. doi:10.1080/19415257.2018.1529609
- Turner, J. C., Christensen, A., Kackar-Cam, H. Z., Fulmer, S. M., & Trucano, M. (2018)

 The development of professional learning communities and their teacher leaders:

 An activity systems analysis, *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 27(1), 49-88.

 doi:10.1080/10508406.2017.1381962
- van Huizen, T., & Plantenga, J. (2018). Do children benefit from universal early childhood education and care? A meta-analysis of evidence from natural experiments. *Economics of Education Review*, 66, 206-222. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2018.08.001

- Van Lare, M., & Brazer, S. D. (2013). Analyzing learning in professional learning communities: A conceptual framework. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 12(4), 374–396. doi:10.1080/15700763.2013.860463
- Vanblaere, B., & Devos, G., (2016). Exploring the link between experienced teachers' learning outcomes and individual and professional learning community characteristics. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 27(2), 205-227. doi:10.1080/09243453.2015.1064455
- Vijayadevar, S., Thornton, K., & Cherrington, S. (2019). Professional learning communities: Enhancing collaborative leadership in Singapore early childhood settings. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 20(1), 79–92.
- Visone, J. D. (2016). A learning community of colleagues enhancing practice. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 52(2), 66–70. doi:10.1080/00228958.2016.1156511
- Voelkel, R. H., & Chrispeels, J. H. (2017). Understanding the link between professional learning communities and teacher collective efficacy. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 28(4), 505-526. doi:10.1080/09243453.2017.1299015
- Voogt, J. M. ., Pieters, J. M. ., & Handelzalts, A. (2016). Teacher collaboration in curriculum design teams: effects, mechanisms, and conditions. *Educational Research & Evaluation*, 22(3/4), 121–140. doi:10.1080/13803611.2016.1247725
- Wagner, C. J., Ossa Parra, M., & Proctor, C. P. (2019). Teacher agency in a multiyear professional development collaborative. *English Teaching: Practice & Critique*, 18(4), 399–414. doi:10.1108/ETPC-11-2018-0099
- Wenner, J. A., & Campbell, T. (2017). The theoretical and empirical basis of teacher

- leadership: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 87(1), 134–171. doi:10.3102/0034654316653478
- Wilson, A. (2016). From professional practice to practical leader: Teacher leadership in professional learning communities. *International Journal of Teacher Leadership*, 7(2), 45–62.
- Woodland, R. H. (2016). Evaluating PK-12 professional learning communities: An improvement science perspective. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *37*(4), 505–521. doi:10.1177/1098214016634203
- Woodland, R. H., & Mazur, R. (2015). Beyond hammers versus hugs: Leveraging educator evaluation and professional learning communities into job-embedded professional development. *NASSP Bulletin*, *99*(1), 5–25.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case study research design and methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zheng, X., Yin, H., & Li, Z. (2019). Exploring the relationships among instructional leadership, professional learning communities and teacher self-efficacy in China. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 47(6), 843–859. doi:10.1177/1741143218764176

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- Describe any ways your professional learning community nurtures teacher leadership.
- 2. How do school leaders support professional learning communities?
- 3. Describe how all members within the PLC share authority and decision-making.
- 4. Describe how your professional learning community supports a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues.
- 5. How are all stakeholders actively involved in developing and implementing the school's shared vision and values?
- 6. Describe any collaborative learning that occurs as a result of your professional learning communities.
- 7. Describe how your professional learning community supports the sharing of instructional practices with other colleagues.
- 8. How do team members within your professional learning community work together to gain new knowledge and instructional strategies and then apply the new learning to their classroom?
- 9. Describe any supportive conditions that exist because of your professional learning communities.
- 10. What are factors that foster a professional learning community?

Appendix B: Five Dimensions of Conceptual Framework and Interview Questions

Conceptual Framework	Interview Questions
1. Shared and Supportive	Describe any ways your professional learning
Leadership	community nurtures teacher leadership.
1. Shared and Supportive	How do school leaders support professional learning
Leadership	communities?
1. Shared and Supportive	Describe how all members within the PLC share
Leadership	authority and decision-making.
2. Shared Vision and Values	Describe how your professional learning community
	supports a shared vision for teaching and learning among colleagues.
2. Shared Vision and Values	How are all stakeholders actively involved in developing
	and implementing the school's shared vision and values?
3. Collective Learning and	Describe any collaborative learning that occurs as a
Application	result of your professional learning communities.
3. Collective Learning and	How do team members within your professional learning
Application	community work together to gain new knowledge and
	instructional strategies and then apply the new learning
	to their classroom?
4. Shared Personal Practice	Describe how your professional learning community
	supports the sharing of instructional practices with other
	colleagues.
5. Supportive Conditions	Describe any supportive conditions that exist because of
	your professional learning communities.
5. Supportive Conditions	What are factors that foster a professional learning
	community?

Appendix C:

Letter of Cooperation

Dr. Margaret Gilmore, Superintendent Allendale County School District 3249 Allendale - Fairfax Hwy Fairfax, SC 29827

Re: Doctoral Research

As a doctoral student a Walden University, I am in the process of conducting research for my dissertation. The study involves conducting interviews with early childhood teachers in grades prekindergarten through third grade to investigate the perceptions they have of effective collaborative practices with their professional learning communities. To move forward with my research, I am requesting permission to conduct interviews in your school district with one elementary school. The interview will not involve, students, parents, administrators, or other instructional support staff. The interview questions will only ask about teachers perceptions of collaborative practices within professional learning communities. The one-on-one interviews will last approximately forty-five minutes by telephone.

Potential participants will be contacted via email. For those teachers meeting the criteria and agreeing to participate in the study, interviews will be conducted virtually at a mutually agreed upon date and time. All responses will be handled in a confidential manner. Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) will approve my study once I have obtained approval. Your cooperation is greatly appreciated, as it will enhance this qualitative research study. If you have any questions about the research, please contact me at 803-206-0355.

If your permission to conduct the study is granted, please confirm in writing by e-mail to andress.carter-sims@waldenu.edu.

Highest regards,

Andress Carter-Sims

Appendix D: Participation Invitation Letter

Dear Invitee,

My name is Andress Carter-Sims. I am currently a doctoral student at Walden University. I am kindly requesting your participation in a doctoral research study that I am conducting titled: Early Childhood Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning Communities. The purpose of this qualitative research study is to better understand prekindergarten through third grade teachers' perceptions of how early childhood professional learning communities enhance teachers' instructional practices. The study involves participating in a private interview which includes 10 questions which will be approximately 45 minutes as well as an additional 10 minutes or so to review the interview transcript for accuracy. The total time of participation should be an average of one hour. Your participation is completely voluntary and you may withdraw from the study at any time. Please note that all data collected with be kept private and confidential. If you would like to participate in the study, please read the Informed Consent letter which is attached. Your participation in the research will be of great importance to assist in social change in the field of early childhood education that has the potential to improve the quality of education and the way that professional learning communities and teachers work collaboratively to improve instructional practices. The study also has the potential to increase best practices that may lead to positive social change through the development of improved professional learning communities which could then improve teacher selfefficacy thereby producing more confident and competent educators and ultimately young children.

Thank you for your time and consideration to this invitation. Sincerely,
Andress Carter-Sims, Ed.S.
Doctoral Student
Walden University

Name: Andress Carter-Sims

Title: Early Childhood Teachers' Perceptions of Professional Learning Communities